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Callaway Golf Company designs, manufactures and sells premium, innovative
golf clubs and golf balls that are demonstrably superior to, and pleasingly differ-

ent from, its competitors’ products.

Callaway Golf Company makes and sells Big Bertha® Metal Woods and Irons,
including Great Big Bertha® Hawk Eye® Titanium Metal Woods and Hawk Eye®
Tungsten Injected™ Titanium lrons, Big Bertha® Steelhead Plus™ Stainless Steel
Metal Woods and Steelhead™ X-14™ Stainless Steel Irons and Bobby Jones® and
Carlsbad Series™ Putters. Callaway Golf Company also makes and sells Odyssey®
Putters and Wedges with Stronomic® and Lyconite® inserts, including the White
Hot™ and TriForce™ Putters. Callaway Golf Ball Company launched its Rule 35™

Firmfeel™ and Softfeel™ golf balls on February 4, 2000.

Statements used in this report that relate to future plans, events, financial results or performance are forward-looking state-
ments as defined under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements are subject to certain risks and
uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated. Readers are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date hereof. The Company undertakes no
obligation to republish revised forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to
reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Readers also are urged to review and consider carefully the various disclo-
sures made by the Company which describe certain factors which affect the Company's business, including the disclosures
made under the caption “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Certain
Factors Affecting Callaway Golf Company,” as well as the Company's other periodic reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q and
Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Readers also should be aware that while
the Company does, from time to time, communicate with securities analysts, it is against the Company's policy to disclose to
them any material non-public information or other confidential commercial information. Reports issued by securities ana-
lysts are not the responsibility of the Company and shareholders should not assume that the Company agrees with any

report issued by any analyst or with any statements, projections, forecasts or opinions contained in such report.

On the Cover (From left to right) Ely Callaway, Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer; Ron Drapeau, Senior
Executive Vice President, Manufacturing; Richard Helmstetter, Senior Executive Vice President, Chief of New Golf Club
Products; Chuck Yash, President



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(in thousands, except per share data) 1999 1998 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992™
Net sales $714,471  $697,621 $678,512  $553,287 $448,729 $254,645 $132,058
Pretax income (loss) $85,497 ($38,899) $195,595 $158,401 $129,405  $69,600  $33,175
Net income (loss) $55,322  ($26,564) $122,337  $97,736  $78,022  $42,862" $19,280
Basic earnings (loss) per share” $0.79 ($0.38) $1.83 $1.47 $1.14 $0.68" $0.35
Diluted earnings (loss) per share” $0.78 ($0.38) $1.73 $1.40 $1.07 $0.621 $0.32
Shareholders’ equity $499,934  $453,096 $362,267 $224,934 $186,414 $116,577  $49,750
Market capitalization at

December 31 $1,349,595 $769,725 $2,120,813 $2,094,588 $1,604,741 $1,127,823 $901,910 $245,254

*Adjusted for all stock splits
**The Company was not public until February 1992
*Includes cumulative effect of an accounting change of $1,658
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND FRIENDS

-I-his letter is easier and more fun to write than was my letter to you a year
ago. Compared to 1998, the 1999 year just ending was a fine and encourag-

ing one for all of us — shareholders, all employees and customers alike.

Your Board of Directors’ and Management’s goals are to return the Company to reasonable growth in
revenue and to its profit levels similar to those achieved in the past. We plan to work very hard to
achieve those goals, and | am pretty sure that the operating results | will report to you this time next

year probably will look good to most of you and will be encouraging to all except our competitors.

At that time — one year from now — | will write my last annual report letter to you as your CEO. By
then we will have completed the last full year of start-up costs for our new golf ball business, and we
should be facing much smoother sailing in that new and promising area. | also think our golf club
business will have completely and successfully turned around from the 1998 condition. Our potential

at that time will most likely look very good when compared to that of our competition.
Before | say more about the future, | want to summarize some of the good things we saw in 1999:

= We manufactured and sold about 5.6 million premium golf clubs, bringing us total revenue of
$714,471,000. | think this was at least as much revenue as our next three largest golf club competi-
tors combined, and we greatly strengthened the unique power of the Callaway Golf® brand around

the world.
= From 1999 revenue, we earned $85,497,000 before taxes, and $55,322,000 net, after taxes.

= We made those 1999 profits after deducting a pre-tax start-up loss of $38,425,000 on the process

of creating a totally integrated golf ball business from scratch.

= We put in place an excellent plan for leadership succession. Last year | reported to you that the
Board had promoted Chuck Yash, the President and CEO of our golf ball subsidiary, to the position of
Senior Executive Vice President, Golf Balls, for the parent Company. During 1999 the Board and |
became increasingly convinced that we were very fortunate to have someone as capable, experi-
enced and dedicated as Chuck already working on the management team. We quickly concluded that

we need search no farther for my successor when the time comes for me to retire. In August of 1999
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(From left to right) Peter Gotfredson, Vice President, Sales and Marketing, Callaway Golf Ball Company;

Chris Holiday, Senior Vice President, U.S. Sales; Jim Chenevey, Senior Vice President, International Sales;
Mick McCormick, Executive Vice President, Global Sales
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(From left to right) David Felker, Vice President, Research; Bill Schlegel, Vice President,
Manufacturing and Operations; Chuck Yash, President and Chief Executive Officer, Callaway Golf
Ball Company




| joined with the Board in announcing with great pride that Chuck had been appointed President of
Callaway Golf Company, and that he would become CEO upon my retirement, which is expected at
the end of 2000. | am pleased with the process the Board followed in identifying and selecting

Chuck, who is a fine and talented man with exceptional dedication and leadership qualities.

= The rest of your management team — which is a mixture of old and new — also looks very strong.
Chuck Yash, in addition to his new duties, remains in charge of our golf ball operations. Richard
Helmstetter remains as the head of golf club R&D, and he and his team continue to design golf club
products that set a standard that others can only dream of matching. Ron Drapeau continues to lead
our golf club manufacturing area, and has been responsible for tremendous improvements in effi-
ciency while increasing output and maintaining quality. Mick McCormick joined us from Nike in
January 2000 as Executive Vice President, Global Sales. He now runs a consolidated operation that
permits the coordination of all our sales teams, in the U.S. and abroad. Our Chief Legal Officer, Steve
McCracken, provides excellent legal guidance while protecting the Company, its brand names, and its
shareholders from counterfeiting, copying, disparagement, and other unfair attacks. Soon we will be

replacing David Rane as our CFO in 2000, completing, for now, the top management group.

=  We also have an exceptional collection of talented people among the rest of the officers. While
every one of them is contributing to the Company’s success, | would like to mention a few who just
joined us or were recently promoted. In March of 2000 we hired Donna Kaptain as Senior Vice
President, Human Resources, replacing Beth O’Mea who had been in charge of the Company’s H.R.
function for 10 years. Peter Gotfredson was promoted to the position of Vice President, Sales and
Marketing at Callaway Golf Ball in November of 1999, and Jim Chenevey was promoted to Senior Vice
President, International Sales, for the parent company. Darian Pasterski left Mattel in 1999 to join us
as Vice President, Customer Strategies, to work on the strategic development of our e-business ini-
tiatives. Dana Shertz and Gary Kamees were promoted to vice president positions in 1999, in sales

and manufacturing, respectively.

= Based on our ongoing R&D efforts, we were able to launch three new products to the golf club
markets of the world in 1999. The Great Big Bertha® Hawk Eye® Titanium Metal Woods with the
Tungsten Gravity Screw and the Hawk Eye® Tungsten Injected™ Titanium Irons with the Tungsten
Weight Matrix both sold very well in 1999, and are continuing to sell well in 2000. We also brought to
market in 1999 the new Odyssey® TriForce™ Putter, which combined our proprietary soft Stronomic®
Insert with both stainless steel and super-heavy tungsten. In our opinion, these products helped give
us in 1999 the strongest product line-up of any golf club company — and there’s more to come, as we

have already shown in 2000.
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= We spent over $27,000,000 for continuing golf club R&D activities — a worthwhile investment in
the future stability and growth of our Company. We believe this is more than any other golf club man-

ufacturer invested on R&D, by far.

= We spent approximately $55,000,000 for advertising and promotion. That includes all expenses

for our professional tour promotional programs on the five major tours around the world.

= All of the above allowed us to maintain the #1 sales position in the U.S. and all other major golf
club markets in the world. Our total exports to markets outside the U.S. amounted to approximately

$300,335,000 through our International Sales Division.

= We built a brand new business in Japan by establishing a wholly-owned sales company to distrib-
ute our golf clubs and golf balls directly to retailers in Japan beginning in 2000. This will be an entire-
ly new and different sales activity for we had previously enjoyed a successful relationship with

Sumitomo Rubber Industries, Ltd., our distributor in Japan for the previous 12 years.

= We completely revamped our golf club manufacturing policies, practices and procedures at our
Carlsbad headquarters. The result was that we produced more golf clubs per employee than ever, at
considerably lower cost, and with no sacrifice in quality. All of this was done in far less space than

ever before.

= We created a new product introduction policy which should help our sales, encourage retailer sup-
port for our products, and assure that consumers receive the proper level of support both before and

after their purchase of our equipment.

= We settled three lawsuits which we had brought against Spalding, Orlimar and a former employee
who joined a competitor. We think we made our points in each case — to the long-term benefit of the

Company.

= We continued our dialogues with the USGA and with the Royal & Ancient Golf Club of St. Andrews,
Scotland. Our purpose is to convince rulemaking bodies such as these that extra distance off the tee,
so long as only human power is used, is good for the game of golf. We understand that a few mem-
bers on the Executive Committee of the USGA still insist that extra distance — even for juniors, women

and men as old as | am —is bad for the game. We will continue to oppose that strange concept.

= We came close to returning our balance sheet to what | consider to be almost pristine condition.
We are old-fashioned in this respect — it makes us feel more comfortable in dealing with the ups and

downs we are sure to face in the future.
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MANUFACTURING (From left to right) Bob Penicka, Vice President, Manufacturing Technology; Geoff Goodman,

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT Senior Vice President, Golf Club Research and Development




FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION (From left to right) Ken Wolf, Senior Vice President, Finance and Controller; Carol Kerley, Senior Vice
AND LEGAL President, I.S. and Chief Information Officer; Larry Dorman, Vice President, Advertising, Press and Public
Relations; Donna Kaptain, Senior Vice President, Human Resources; Steve McCracken, Executive Vice

President, Licensing, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary




This last point brings me to tell you about something that happened over the last couple of years
that we don’t feel good about — the decline in the price of our stock on the NYSE. It began 1999 at
$10.25 and closed the year at $17.69 per share, but it has taken another big drop in early 2000.

In my book we are a far stronger company than ever before in comparison to our competition and in
all the “basics” that count for future growth and profitability. So | am a bit perplexed by our current
stock price. And | don’t think that | am alone, for this is a dilemma faced by many of America’s best
companies these days. It is my belief, and the belief of many, that we are on the right course for the
long term — that our shareholders will be reasonably rewarded if management continues to consider-
ably outperform our competition as we have done in the golf club business, and as | believe we will

do in the golf ball business.
But what else can we do about the price of our stock?

Some have suggested that we should be buying back our stock in the open market, going so far as to
argue that we should be willing to borrow hundreds of millions of dollars to do so. Now that we have
again achieved a level of success where we have a significant amount of cash in the bank and essen-
tially no debt, your Board of Directors and | are closely studying the possibility of again buying our
stock in the open market. However, the issue is not an easy one. In today’s changing environment, it
is no longer guaranteed, and perhaps not even likely, that a significant stock buy back will result in
increased share prices. Your Board of Directors and | will continue to review these issues because we

know they are important to all of you — as they are to us.

One thing is certain, however. We will not change our core philosophy that the best thing for the
stock price is to work hard to design, make and sell superior golf clubs and golf balls at prices that

generate reasonable growth and good profits.

I look forward to 2000 with great anticipation, excitement and optimism, and | hope you do as well.
May we all have good health and some good luck, and may our hard work and talent pay off for
all shareholders, our families, friends, employees and customers. We are glad you continue to be

interested in our Company.

Ely Callaway
Founder, Chairman and CEO

Callaway Golf Company
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(From left to right) Callaway Golf Staff Professionals Jesper Parnevik (PGA TOUR), Paul Lawrie (PGA EUROPEAN TOUR), Carlos Franco

(PGA TOUR), Olin Browne (PGA TOUR), Rocco Mediate (PGA TOUR), Colin Montgomerie (PGA EUROPEAN TOUR); (on far right) Mike
Galeski, Senior Vice President, Tour Relations. Other Callaway Golf Staff Professionals include: PGA TOUR - Stephen Ames, Paul Azinger,

Ben Bates, Rich Beem, Jim Carter, Brian Henninger, Paul Stankowski. LPGA TOUR - Jane Geddes, Rachel Hetherington, Riko Higashio,




Rosie Jones, Lorie Kane, Emilee Klein, Leta Lindley, Cindy McCurdy, Liselotte Neumann, Alison Nicholas, Annika Sorenstam. ASIAN TOUR - Kyi Hla Han, Prayad Marksaeng. BUY.COM
TOUR - Angel Franco. SENIOR PGA TOUR - Bob Charles, Jim Colbert, Frank Conner, Jim Dent, Bob Dickson, Bob Eastwood, Dave Eichelberger, Bruce Fleisher, Stewart Ginn, David
Graham, David Lundstrom, Johnny Miller, Orville Moody, Walter Morgan, Bob Murphy, Jim Thorpe. PGA EUROPEAN TOUR — Michael Campbell, Gary Emerson, Gary Evans, Pierre Fulke,
Bernard Gallacher, Barry Lane, Mark McNulty, Per Nyman, Andrew Oldcorn, Eduardo Romero, Roger Winchester. JAPANESE PGA TOUR - Eiji Mizoguchi, Tohru Taniguchi.
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A SPECIAL NOTE FROM THE CHAIRMAN ABOUT WiLLIAM A. SCHREYER

Since 1994, your Company and | have been the beneficiaries of wise advice and sound guidance
offered by William A. Schreyer, the Chairman Emeritus of Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. His recognized

expertise and vast experience in financial, business and other matters has made him an invaluable

member of the Board of Directors. More importantly, his charm, friendliness and cheery demeanor
will be missed by all of us, including me in particular. When Bill arrived at one of our Board Meetings,

he added so much, in every way.

On May 2, 2000, Bill will be performing his last official acts as a Director of Callaway Golf Company.

He has chosen, for personal reasons, to retire from the Board.

In addition to his service on the Callaway Golf Board, Bill has served as Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer of Merrill Lynch and as a Director on the Boards of Deere & Company,
Schering-Plough Corporation, and Iridium World Communications Ltd. He is a Trustee, International
Councillor, and Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Center for Strategic and International
Studies, a Washington, D.C.-based bipartisan public policy institute. He is a Member Emeritus of the

Board of Trustees of his alma mater, Pennsylvania State University.

We will miss Bill at our Board Meetings, but we hope and expect that he will remain closely tied to

the Company.

Thanks, Bill. Thanks for everything.

Ely Callaway
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
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(in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Statement of Operations Data:
Net sales $ 714,471 $ 697,621 $ 842,927 $ 678,512 $553,287
Cost of goods sold 376,405 401,607 400,127 317,353 270,125

Gross profit 338,066 296,014 442,800 361,159 283,162
Selling, general and administrative expenses 224,336 245,070 191,313 155,177 120,201
Research and development costs 34,002 36,848 30,298 16,154 8,577
Restructuring costs (Note 12) (5,894) 54,235
Sumitomo transition costs (Note 15) 5,713
Litigation settlement 12,000

Income (loss) from operations 79,909 (40,139) 209,189 189,828 154,384
Interest and other income, net (Note 9) 9,182 3,911 4,586 5,804 4,038
Interest expense (3,594) 2,671) (10) 3B7) 1)

Income (loss) before income taxes 85,497 (38,899) 213,765 195,595 158,401
Income tax provision (benefit) 30,175 (12,335) 81,061 73,258 60,665

Net income (loss) $ 55,322 ($ 26,564) i $132,704 $122,337 $ 97,736
Earnings (loss) per common share:

Basic $0.79 ($0.38) $1.94 $1.83 $1.47
Diluted $0.78 ($0.38) $1.85 $1.73 $1.40
Dividends paid per share $0.28 $0.28 $0.28 $0.24 $0.20
(in thousands) December 31,
1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 112,602 $ 45,618 $ 26,204 $108,457 $ 59,157
Working capital $ 205,198 $139,598 $ 209,402 $250,461 $146,871
Total assets $ 616,783 $ 655,827 $561,714 $ 428,428 $289,975
Long-term liabilities $ 11,575 $ 18,723 $ 7,905 $ 5109 | $ 2,207
Total shareholders’ equity $ 499,934 $453,096 | $481,425 $362,267 | $224,934
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MANAGEMENT’S DiscussioNn AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESuULTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31, 1999 and 1998

For the year ended December 31, 1999, net sales increased
$16.9 million, or 2%, to $714.5 million from $697.6 million in
the prior year. The increase is attributable to an increase in
sales of metal woods, particularly titanium metal woods, par-
tially offset by a decrease in sales of irons and by sales of
non-current product through a managed close-out process at
substantially reduced prices. The increase in metal woods
sales of $39.1 million (10%) is largely attributable to the
January 1999 introduction of Great Big Bertha® Hawk Eye®
Titanium Metal Woods and increases in sales of Big Bertha®
Steelhead™ Metal Woods, which were introduced in August
1998. Sales of irons decreased $7.8 million, primarily as a
result of a $27.6 million decrease in sales of Big Bertha®
X-12° Irons, which were introduced in January 1998, partially
offset by sales from the August 1999 introduction of Hawk
Eye® Tungsten Injected™ Titanium Irons of $27.7 million.
Sales of Odyssey® and Callaway Golf® putters decreased $7.5
million (14%). Sales of other products decreased $6.9 million
(30%). Also included in 1999 net sales were $56.6 million in
sales of non-current product, most of which were sold at
close-out prices.

In terms of net sales by region, sales in the United States
decreased $23.5 million (5%) to $414.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999. Net sales in Japan decreased $5.5
million (9%) to $55.9 million, as net purchases by the
Company’s distributor declined in anticipation of the transition
of distribution of Callaway Golf® products from it to the
Company’s wholly-owned Japanese subsidiary. Net sales to
Europe remained relatively constant at $115.7 million and net
sales to the rest of Asia and the rest of the world increased
$38.9 million (114%) and $7.6 million (16%), respectively.
Sales to the rest of Asia increased in 1999 over 1998 due large-
ly to the economic recovery of the Korean market in 1999 and
the introduction of higher-margin products in Korea during
1999. The Company does not expect that revenue in Korea will
continue to increase at a rate comparable to 1999.

For the year ended December 31, 1999, gross profit
increased to $338.1 million from $296.0 million in the prior
year, and as a percentage of net sales increased to 47% from
42%. The increase is primarily due to lower obsolescence
charges in 1999 vs. a $30.0 million excess inventory charge
recorded in the fourth quarter of 1998, and an increase in
sales of metal woods (which carry higher margins). However,
gross profit was unfavorably affected by price reductions on
the sales of non-current products through the Company’s man-

aged close-out program and an increase in distribution costs
associated with the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.

Selling expenses decreased to $131.9 million in 1999
from $147.0 million in the prior year. As a percentage of net
sales, selling expenses decreased to 18% from 21%. This
decrease is primarily attributable to planned reductions in
advertising, pro tour and other promotional expenses, partial-
ly offset by an increase in employee compensation.

General and administrative expenses decreased to $92.5
million in 1999 from $98.0 million in 1998, or 13% and 14% of
net sales, respectively. This decrease is largely due to decreas-
es in consulting, bad debt expense and supplies expense, as
well as a decrease in building-related costs associated with
the Company’s 1998 restructuring program. These amounts
were partially offset by increases in costs associated with the
ramp-up of the Company’s golf ball operations and increased
depreciation and amortization expense related to the
Company’s foreign operations.

Research and development expenses decreased to $34.0
million (5% of net sales) in 1999 from $36.8 million (5% of net
sales) in 1998. This decrease was primarily the result of the
shut-down of the Company’s prototype foundry and a decrease
in consulting fees, partially offset by increases in employee
compensation and component prototype costs.

Restructuring income primarily relates to the reversal of a
restructuring reserve recorded in 1998 for a lease obligation in
New York City that was subsequently assigned to a third party.
See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a
discussion of this and other restructuring transactions.

Sumitomo Rubber Industries, Ltd. (“Sumitomo”) transi-
tion costs represent payments for non-current product which
were associated with the transition of the distribution of
Callaway Golf® products from Sumitomo to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. See “Certain Factors Affecting
Callaway Golf Company - International Distribution” below
and Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a
discussion of this transaction.

Interest and other income increased to $9.2 million from
$3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 as com-
pared with the prior year. This increase is primarily attribut-
able to an increase in interest income resulting from higher
average cash and deferred compensation investment balances
during 1999 as compared with 1998, an increase in royalty
income and an increase in other income due to the receipt of
insurance proceeds related to the Company’s deferred com-
pensation plan.

Interest expense increased to $3.6 million in 1999
from $2.7 million in 1998. This increase is largely related to
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MANAGEMENT’S DiscussioNn AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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interest on the Company’s interim finance agreement for pre-
lease financing advances for the acquisition and installation
costs of machinery and equipment. Also contributing to the
increase was an increase in interest expense related to the
Company’s line of credit and accounts receivable securitiza-
tion facilities associated with higher interest and yield rates
and related fees.

During 1999, the Company recorded a tax provision of
$30.2 million and recognized a decrease in deferred taxes of
$9.6 million. During 1999, the Company realized tax benefits
of $2.4 million related to the exercise of stock options, $1.4
million related to non-taxable income from insurance pro-
ceeds related to the Company’s deferred compensation plan
and $1.0 million related to the reorganization of a foreign
subsidiary.

Years Ended December 31, 1998 and 1997

For the year ended December 31, 1998, net sales were $697.6
million, a 17% decrease from the prior year. This decrease was
primarily due to fewer metal woods sales, particularly titanium
metal woods, along with lower average sales prices as a result
of a metal wood wholesale price reduction on Big Bertha® War
Bird® Stainless Steel Metal Woods and Great Big Bertha® and
Biggest Big Bertha® Titanium Metal Woods, both domestically
and in many major international markets. In terms of product
sales, the decrease was attributable to decreases in metal
woods sales of $154.4 million, iron sales of $4.9 million and
other product sales of $14.9 million, partially offset by an
increase in Odyssey® product sales of $28.9 million, as only
five months of Odyssey Golf, Inc.’s (“Odyssey”) results were
included in the prior year’s consolidated results (see Note 14
to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The decrease in
metal woods sales was composed of decreases in Great Big
Bertha® Metal Woods of $96.8 million, Big Bertha® War Bird®
Metal Woods of $77.7 million and Biggest Big Bertha® Drivers
of $57.9 million, which was partially offset by sales of Big
Bertha® Steelhead™ Metal Woods, which contributed $78.0
million to sales. The decrease in sales of irons was attributable
to decreases in Big Bertha® Irons of $137.6 million, Big Bertha
Gold® Irons of $28.3 million and Great Big Bertha® Irons of
$31.1 million, which was partially offset by a $192.4 million
increase in Big Bertha® X-12° Irons.

In terms of net sales by region, United States sales
decreased $109.6 million (20%) for the year ended December
31, 1998 as compared with 1997. Net sales in Japan and the
rest of Asia decreased $23.2 million (27%) and $19.8 million
(37%), respectively, during 1998, while net sales in Europe and
Canada increased by $7.7 million (7%) and $7.7 million (44%),
respectively, during this period.
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The Company believes the diversion of consumer purchas-
es to the Company’s new Big Bertha® Steelhead™ Metal Woods
and Big Bertha® X-12° Irons from its higher priced titanium
metal woods and irons, and marketplace anticipation of the
introduction of the Great Big Bertha® Hawk Eye® Titanium Metal
Woods in January 1999, also contributed to the decrease in
sales in 1998. Additionally, the Company believes that competi-
tion has caused the Company to lose some market share domes-
tically partly because of pricing strategies implemented by
certain competitors. In addition, the economic turmoil
in Southeast Asia and Japan had an adverse effect on the
Company’s sales and results of operations. Sales earlier in the
year also were adversely affected by unusual “El Nifio”
weather conditions in the United States. The Company also
believes that certain actions by the United States Golf
Association in 1998 contributed to the drop in metal wood sales.

For the year ended December 31, 1998, gross profit
decreased to $296.0 million from $442.8 million in the prior
year, and gross margin decreased to 42% from 53%. This
decrease was primarily attributable to additions to the reserve
for excess inventory of $30.0 million in the fourth quarter,
lower average sales prices as a result of a metal wood whole-
sale price reduction on Big Bertha® War Bird® Stainless Steel
Metal Woods and Great Big Bertha® and Biggest Big Bertha®
Titanium Metal Woods and the accompanying customer com-
pensation, an increase in warranty expense, and increased
manufacturing labor and overhead costs.

Selling expenses increased to $147.0 million in 1998
from $120.6 million in 1997. This increase was primarily attrib-
utable to costs associated with Odyssey’s putter operations,
which the Company acquired in August 1997, and foreign and
domestic subsidiaries acquired during 1998, as well as an
increase in international advertising and other marketing
expenses. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in
domestic promotional and endorsement expenses.

General and administrative expenses increased to $98.0
million in 1998 from $70.7 million in 1997. This increase was
due to pre-production and non-capitalized construction costs
of the new golf ball facility, expenses associated with foreign
and domestic subsidiaries acquired during 1998, expenses
associated with the consolidation of the Company’s European
operations, expenses associated with Odyssey’s putter opera-
tions, including amortization of goodwill, and an increase in
the reserve for uncollectable accounts receivable.

Research and development expenses increased to $36.8
million in 1998 from $30.3 million in 1997. This increase was
primarily attributable to increased product design costs relat-
ed to increased employee compensation, consulting and other



overhead expenses, including those associated with Callaway
Golf Ball Company and Odyssey’s putter operations.

Charges of $54.2 million were recorded in the fourth
quarter of 1998 related to the Company’s cost reduction
actions (see “Restructuring” below). These charges were pri-
marily composed of $28.7 million for asset impairments,
excess lease costs, and costs to exit various non-core business
activities, including venues, new player development, interac-
tive golf and publishing, $13.8 million for impairment of assets
due to the consolidation of continuing operations and $11.7
million for employee separation costs.

Other income decreased to $3.9 million in 1998 from $4.6
million in 1997. This decrease was due to a decrease in inter-
est income resulting from lower cash balances during 1998
versus 1997 and losses on dispositions of assets in 1998. This
decrease was partially offset by net gains on foreign currency
transactions in 1998 of $1.6 million, as compared with net
losses in 1997 of $0.9 million.

Interest expense increased to $2.7 million in 1998 result-
ing from draws on the Company’s line of credit. The line of
credit was not used during 1997.

LiquipiTy AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At December 31, 1999, cash and cash equivalents increased to
$112.6 million from $45.6 million at December 31, 1998. For
the year ended December 31, 1999, cash provided by opera-
tions of $166.3 million was partially offset by cash used in
investing activities of $53.5 million and cash used in financing
activities of $45.9 million. Cash flows used in investing activi-
ties resulted from capital expenditures, primarily associated
with the ramp-up of golf ball operations and deferred purchase
acquisition payments, partially offset by proceeds from the
sale of fixed assets. Of the capital expenditures for 1999,
$50.0 million were sold and leased back pursuant to terms of
an equipment financing and lease agreement (see Note 4 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements). Cash flows used in
financing activities are primarily due to the repayment of loan
advances and dividends paid, partially offset by proceeds from
an equipment financing agreement (see Note 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements) and the issuance of
Common Stock.

The Company’s principal source of liquidity, both on a
short-term and long-term basis, has been cash flow provided
by operations and the Company’s credit facilities. The
Company expects this trend to continue even though sales
increased only slightly in 1999 and the Company does not
foresee any significant improvement in sales during the near
term. On February 12, 1999, the Company consummated the

amendment of its line of credit to increase the revolving credit
facility to up to $120.0 million (the “Amended Credit
Agreement”) and entered into an $80.0 million accounts
receivable securitization facility (the “Accounts Receivable
Facility”) (see Notes 4 and 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements). During the first quarter of 1999, the Company
utilized its Accounts Receivable Facility and borrowed against
its line of credit under the Amended Credit Agreement to fund
operations and finance capital expenditures. At December 31,
1999, the Company had repaid the outstanding balance of the
Amended Credit Agreement with cash flow from operations
and had $115.7 million available, net of outstanding letters of
credit, under this credit facility, subject to meeting certain
availability requirements under a borrowing base formula and
other limitations. Also at December 31, 1999, there were no
advances under the Accounts Receivable Facility, leaving up to
$80.0 million available under this facility. Further, in the third
and fourth quarters of 1999, the Company converted its note
payable under the Finance Agreement to an operating lease
(see Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

As a result of the implementation of its plan to improve
operating efficiencies (see “Restructuring” below), the
Company incurred charges of $54.2 million in the fourth quar-
ter of 1998. Of these charges, $25.5 million were estimated to
be non-cash. Since the adoption of this restructuring plan in
the fourth quarter of 1998, the Company has made cash out-
lays for employee termination costs, contract cancellation
fees, excess lease costs and other expenses totaling $18.8
million, of which $8.5 million occurred in 1999. As a result of
the reversal of a portion of certain restructuring reserves total-
ing $8.6 million during 1999, due primarily to the assignment
of a lease and the sale of certain of the Company’s buildings at
terms more favorable than estimated, expected future cash
outlays for restructuring activities have been reduced and are
estimated to be $1.4 million (see Note 12 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements). This amount is expected to be paid by
July 2000. These cash outlays will be funded by cash flows
from operations and, if necessary, the Company’s credit facili-
ties. If the actual actions taken by the Company differ from the
plans on which these estimates are based, actual losses
recorded and resulting cash outlays made by the Company
could differ significantly.

Although the Company’s golf club operations are mature
and historically have generated cash from operations, the
Company’s golf ball operations are in a developmental stage.
Therefore, the Company does not expect that its golf ball oper-
ations will generate sufficient cash to fund its operations in
2000. However, the Company believes that, based upon its
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current operating plan, analysis of its consolidated financial
position and projected future results of operations, it will be
able to maintain its current level of its consolidated operations
including purchase commitments and planned capital expen-
ditures for the foreseeable future, through operating cash
flows and its credit facilities. There can be no assurance, how-
ever, that future industry specific or other developments, or
general economic trends, will not adversely affect the
Company’s operations or its ability to meet its future cash
requirements.

RESTRUCTURING

During the fourth quarter of 1998, the Company recorded a
restructuring charge of $54.2 million resulting from a number of
cost reduction actions and operational improvements. These
actions included: the consolidation of the operations of the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Odyssey, into the opera-
tions of the Company while maintaining the distinct and separate
Odyssey® brand; the discontinuation, transfer or suspension of
certain initiatives not directly associated with the Company’s
core business, such as the Company’s involvement with interac-
tive golf sites, golf book publishing, new player development and

Details of the one-time charge are as follows:

a golf venue in Las Vegas; and the re-sizing of the Company’s core
business to reflect current and expected business conditions.
These initiatives were completed during 1999, with the exception
of cash outlays related to the assignment of a lease obligation for
a facility in New York City that will continue through July 2000.
The restructuring charges (shown below in tabular format) pri-
marily related to: 1) the elimination of job responsibilities, result-
ing in costs incurred for employee severance; 2) the decision to
exit certain non-core business activities, resulting in losses on
disposition of the Company’s 80% interest in Callaway Golf
Media Ventures (See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements), a loss on the sale of the business of All-American
(See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), as well
as excess lease costs; and 3) consolidation of the Company’s
continuing operations resulting in impairment of assets, losses
on disposition of assets and excess lease costs.

Employee reductions occurred in almost all areas of the
Company, including manufacturing, marketing, sales, and
administrative areas. At December 31, 1998, the Company had
reduced its non-temporary work force by approximately 750
positions. Although substantially all reductions occurred prior
to December 31, 1998, a small number of reductions occurred
in the first quarter of 1999.

(in thousands) Reserve Reserve
Cash/ One-Time Balance Balance
Non-Cash Charge Activity at 12/31/98 Activity®  at 12/31/99
Elimination of Job Responsibilities $11,664 $8,473 $3,191 $3,191
Severance packages Cash 11,603 8,412 3,191 3,191
Other Non-cash 61 61
Exiting Certain Non-Core Business Activities $28,788 $12,015 $16,773 $15,394 $1,379
Loss on disposition of subsidiaries Non-cash 13,072 10,341 2,731 2,731
Excess lease costs Cash 12,660 146 12,514 11,135@ 1,379
Contract cancellation fees Cash 2,700 1,504 1,196 1,196
Other Cash 356 24 332 332
Consolidation of Operations $13,783 $2,846 $10,937 $10,937
Loss on impairment/disposition of assets Non-cash 12,364 2,730 9,634 9,6340
Excess lease costs Cash 806 4 802 802
Other Cash 613 112 501 501

(1) Includes reversal of reserve totaling $8.6 million, as actual amounts differed from estimates. Significant reversals are noted below in (2) through (4).
(2) Includes reversal of $6.1 million of reserve due to the assignment of lease obligation at terms significantly more favorable than estimated at the

establishment of the reserve.

(3) Includes reversal of $1.5 million of reserve related to disposition of two buildings at higher sales prices than estimated.

(4) Includes reversal of $491,000 of reserve due to the sublease of a facility at terms more favorable than estimated at the establishment of the reserve.

During 1999, the Company incurred charges of $1.3 million on the disposition of building improvements eliminated during the

consolidation of manufacturing operations, as well as other charges of $671,000. These charges did not meet the criteria for accru-

al in 1998. Additionally, the Company incurred charges of $749,000 related to asset dispositions and other restructuring activities
for which reserves were not established in 1998. Future cash outlays are anticipated to be completed by July 2000.
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CERTAIN FACTORS AFFECTING CALLAWAY GOLF
ComMPANY

Restructuring

During 1999, as planned, the Company completed the restruc-
turing of its operations that it announced during the fourth
quarter of 1998. See “Restructuring” under “Results of
Operations” discussed above. Although the Company was
pleased with the restructuring results in 1999, there can be no
assurance that the Company will continue to realize the bene-
fits of the restructuring.

Sales

Golf Clubs. The Company previously reported that it believed
that the dollar volume of the premium golf club market had
been declining in certain major markets, including the United
States. Although the Company believes that market conditions
may have stabilized, there is no assurance that the overall dol-
lar volume of the premium golf club market in the U.S. will
grow significantly, or that it will not decline, in the near future.
During 1999, the Company’s United States revenues
decreased 5% while international revenues increased 16%
compared to 1998. The Company believes that this decrease in
United States revenue was due in part to softness in the
United States market, lower revenue per club from sales of golf
equipment at low or close-out prices, and declines in iron and
putter sales due to the maturity of those product lines. The
Company believes that the increase in international revenue is
largely attributable to a significant increase in revenue from
sales in Korea as a result of the economic recovery of the
Korean market and the introduction of higher margin products
in Korea in 1999. The Company does not expect that revenue
in Korea will continue to increase at a rate comparable to 1999.
The Company further believes that some portion of sales to
international customers recorded in 1999 as direct interna-
tional sales may have formerly been made to the same inter-
national customers indirectly through the United States distri-
bution channel. See also “Certain Factors Affecting Callaway
Golf Company — Gray Market Distribution.”

The Company’s brands remained number one in the U.S.
and the worldwide market for woods, irons and putters in
1999. See also “Certain Factors Affecting Callaway Golf
Company - Competition.”

Sales of the Company’s Great Big Bertha® Hawk Eye®
Titanium Metal Woods, Big Bertha® Steelhead™ Metal
Woods and Big Bertha® X-12® Irons were strong in 1999.
Hawk Eye® Tungsten Injected™ Titanium Irons were intro-
duced in September 1999, and Big Bertha® Steelhead Plus™
Drivers and Fairway Woods, Big Bertha® Steelhead™ X-14™
Irons and Odyssey® White Hot™ Putters were released in

January 2000. The initial acceptance of these products has
also been strong to date. No assurances can be given, how-
ever, that the demand for these products or the Company’s
other existing products, or the introduction of new products,
will permit the Company to experience growth in sales, or
maintain historical levels of sales, in the future.

The Company formerly reported that golf club sales to
Japan might be lower overall for 1999 as compared to 1998 as
the Company’s distributor, Sumitomo Rubber Industries, Ltd.
(“Sumitomo”), prepared for the transition of responsibility from
it to the Company’s wholly-owned Japanese subsidiary,
Callaway Golf Kabushiki Kaisha (“Callaway Golf K. K.”), former-
ly named ERC International Company. Although the Company
subsequently reported that sales were not lower through the
first nine months of 1999, sales in Japan for all of 1999 were
down 9% compared with 1998, with the reduction largely
because net purchases by Sumitomo, as expected, declined in
anticipation of the transition. In 1999, 1998 and 1997, sales to
Sumitomo accounted for 7%, 8% and 10%, respectively, of the
Company’s total net sales. The Sumitomo distribution agree-
ment required that Sumitomo purchase specific minimum
quantities from the Company. As a direct distributor, the
Company will not have the benefit of these guaranteed mini-
mum purchases going forward. Furthermore, there is no assur-
ance that the Company will be able to transcend the cultural
and other barriers to successful distribution in Japan or that its
sales in Japan will be comparable to or exceed its prior sales to
Sumitomo. There also will be a delay in the recording of rev-
enues for sales in Japan as compared to previous years because
revenue will now be recorded upon sale to retailers and not
upon sale to a distributor. See also “Certain Factors Affecting
Callaway Golf Company - International Distribution.”

Golf Balls. In 1996, the Company formed Callaway Golf Ball
Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for the
purpose of designing, manufacturing and selling golf balls.
The Company had previously licensed the manufacture and
distribution of a golf ball in Japan and Korea. The Company
also had distributed a golf ball under the trademark “Bobby
Jones®.” These previous golf ball ventures were introduced
primarily as promotional efforts and were not commercially
successful.

In February 2000, the Company released its new Rule 35™
Golf Balls. These golf balls are the product of more than three
years of research and development and are manufactured in a
new facility built by the Company for that purpose. To date, the
Company’s investment in its golf ball business has exceeded
$170 million. The development of the Company’s golf ball
business, by plan, has had a significant negative impact on
the Company’s cash flows, financial position and results of
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operations and will continue to affect the Company's perfor-
mance in 2000. The success of the Company’s new golf ball
business could be adversely affected by various risks, includ-
ing, among others, delays or difficulties in manufacturing or
distribution and unanticipated costs. Although initial demand
for the Company’s golf balls is promising, there is no assurance
that such demand will result in a proportionate amount of actu-
al sales or that consumers will enjoy the balls sufficiently to
sustain future sales. Furthermore, although the Company
expects production of the golf balls to increase as the year
2000 progresses, there is no assurance that the Company will
be able to manufacture enough balls to meet demand or be
able to achieve the operational or sales efficiencies necessary
to make its golf ball business profitable. Consequently, there
can be no assurance as to whether the golf ball will be com-
mercially successful or that a return on the Company’s invest-
ment will ultimately be realized.

Gross Margin

The Company’s gross margin as a percentage of net sales
increased to 47% in 1999 from 42% in 1998. This increase pri-
marily resulted from lower obsolescence charges in 1999 (vs.
a $30.0 million excess inventory charge recorded in the fourth
quarter of 1998), higher metal wood sales (which carry higher
margins) as a percentage of total net sales, as compared to
1998, and from reductions in manufacturing labor and over-
head costs realized through the Company’s 1998 restructur-
ing, along with reductions in certain component costs. Gross
margin as a percentage of net sales would have improved to
49% but for close-out sales of Great Big Bertha®
TungsteneTitanium™ lrons, Great Big Bertha® and Biggest Big
Bertha® Titanium Metal Woods, and Big Bertha® War Bird®
Metal Woods, which had much lower margins. However, con-
sumer acceptance of current and new product introductions,
the sale and disposal of non-current products at reduced
sales prices and continuing pricing pressure from competi-
tive market conditions may have an adverse effect on the
Company’s future sales and gross margin. Furthermore, the
Company expects that in 2000 the Company’s sales of irons
as a percentage of total net sales will increase. This would
negatively impact the Company’s gross margin as a percent-
age of net sales because irons generally sell at lower margins
than woods.

The Company’s margins also could be affected by its golf
ball business. During the year 2000, the Company expects that
its margins in the golf ball business will be less than the levels
it expects to achieve when the Company attains a level of
operational and sales efficiency that allows it to benefit from
certain economies of scale. There is no assurance, however,
that the Company will achieve the economies of scale neces-
sary to maintain or improve its current overall sales margins.
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Seasonality

In the golf club and golf ball industries, sales to retailers are
generally seasonal due to lower demand in the retail market in
the cold weather months covered by the fourth and first quar-
ters. The Company’s golf club business has generally followed
this seasonal trend and the Company expects this to continue
for both its golf club and golf ball businesses. Unusual or
severe weather conditions such as the “El Nifio” weather pat-
terns experienced during the winter of 1997-1998 may com-
pound or otherwise distort these seasonal effects.

Competition

The worldwide market for premium golf clubs is highly com-
petitive, and is served by a number of well-established and
well-financed companies with recognized brand names, as
well as new companies with popular products. New product
introductions and/or price reductions by competitors continue
to generate increased market competition. However, the
Company believes that it has gained unit and dollar market
share for woods in the United States during 1999 as compared
to 1998. While the Company believes that its products and its
marketing efforts continue to be competitive, there can be no
assurance that successful marketing activities by competitors
will not negatively impact the Company’s future sales.

A golf club manufacturer’s ability to compete is in part
dependent upon its ability to satisfy the various subjective
requirements of golfers, including the golf club’s look and
“feel,” and the level of acceptance that the golf club has among
professional and other golfers. The subjective preferences of
golf club purchasers may be subject to rapid and unanticipated
changes. There can be no assurance as to how long the
Company’s golf clubs will maintain market acceptance.

The premium golf ball business is also highly competitive
with a number of well-established and well-financed competi-
tors, including one competitor with an estimated market share
in excess of 50% of the premium golf ball business. These
competitors have established market share in the golf ball
business, which the Company will need to penetrate for its golf
ball business to be successful. There can be no assurance that
the Company’s golf balls will obtain the market acceptance
necessary to penetrate this established market.

New Product Introduction

The Company believes that the introduction of new, innovative
golf clubs and golf balls is important to its future success. The
Company faces certain risks associated with such a strategy.
For example, new models and basic design changes in golf
equipment are frequently met with consumer rejection. In
addition, prior successful designs may be rendered obsolete
within a relatively short period of time as new products are
introduced into the marketplace. Further, any new products



that retail at a lower price than prior products may negatively
impact the Company’s revenues unless unit sales increase.

New golf club and golf ball products generally seek to
satisfy the standards established by the United States Golf
Association (“USGA”) and the Royal and Ancient Golf Club of
St. Andrews (“R&A”) because these standards are generally
followed by golfers within their respective jurisdictions. While
all of the Company’s current golf clubs and golf balls have
been found to conform to the Rules of Golf as applied in the
jurisdictions where they are sold, there is no assurance that
new designs will receive USGA and/or R&A approval, or that
existing USGA and/or R&A standards will not be altered in
ways that adversely affect the sales of the Company’s prod-
ucts. For example, on November 2, 1998, the USGA announced
the adoption of a test protocol to measure the so-called
“spring-like effect” in certain golf clubheads. The USGA has
advised the Company that none of the Company’s current
clubs sold in the U.S. are barred by this test. The R&A is con-
sidering the adoption of a similar or related test, but has not
yet done so. Both the USGA and the R&A are reviewing the cur-
rent regulations of golf, and one or both may change those
regulations in the future. Future actions by the USGA or the
R&A may impede the Company’s ability to introduce new prod-
ucts and therefore could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations and cash flows.

The Company’s new products have tended to incorporate
significant innovations in design and manufacture, which have
often resulted in higher prices for the Company’s products rel-
ative to other products in the marketplace. For example, the
Company’s golf balls are premium golf balls and there are
many lower priced non-premium golf balls sold by others.
There can be no assurance that a significant percentage of the
public will always be willing to pay such premium prices for
golf equipment or that the Company will be able to continue to
design and manufacture premium products that achieve mar-
ket acceptance in the future.

The rapid introduction of new golf club or golf ball prod-
ucts by the Company could result in close-outs of existing
inventories at both the wholesale and retail levels. Such close-
outs can result in reduced margins on the sale of older prod-
ucts, as well as reduced sales of new products, given the avail-
ability of older products at lower prices. The Company experi-
enced some of these effects in 1999 with respect to golf clubs
and could experience similar effects in future years as the
Company from time to time introduces new products or mis-
judges demand.

The Company plans its manufacturing capacity based
upon the forecasted demand for its products. Actual demand
for such products may exceed or be less than forecasted
demand. The Company’s unique product designs often

require sophisticated manufacturing techniques, which can
limit the Company’s ability to quickly expand its manufactur-
ing capacity to meet the full demand for its products. If the
Company is unable to produce sufficient quantities of new
products in time to fulfill actual demand, especially during the
Company’s traditionally busy second and third quarters, it
could limit the Company’s sales and adversely affect its finan-
cial performance. On the other hand, the Company commits to
components and other manufacturing inputs for varying peri-
ods of time, which can limit the Company’s ability to quickly
react if actual demand is less than forecast. As in 1998, this
could result in excess inventories and related obsolescence
charges that could adversely affect the Company’s financial
performance.

Product Breakage

The Company supports all of its golf clubs with a limited two
year written warranty. Since the Company does not rely upon
traditional designs in the development of its golf clubs, its
products may be more likely to develop unanticipated prob-
lems than those of many of its competitors which use tradi-
tional designs. For example, clubs have been returned with
cracked clubheads, broken graphite shafts and loose medal-
lions. In addition, the Company’s Biggest Big Bertha® Drivers,
because of their large club head size and extra long, light-
weight graphite shafts, have experienced shaft breakage at a
rate higher than generally experienced with the Company’s
other metal woods, even though these shafts were among the
most expensive to manufacture in the industry. This product
was discontinued in 1999. While any breakage or warranty
problems are deemed significant to the Company, the inci-
dence of clubs returned as a result of cracked clubheads, bro-
ken graphite shafts, loose medallions and other product prob-
lems to date has not been material in relation to the volume of
Callaway Golf® clubs that have been sold.

The Company monitors the level and nature of any golf
club breakage and, where appropriate, seeks to incorporate
design and production changes to assure its customers of the
highest quality available in the market. Significant increases in
the incidence of breakage or other product problems may
adversely affect the Company’s sales and image with golfers.
While the Company believes that it has sufficient reserves for
warranty claims, there can be no assurance that these reserves
will be sufficient if the Company were to experience an unusu-
ally high incidence of breakage or other product problems.

Credit Risk

The Company primarily sells its products to golf equipment
retailers, wholly-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries and
foreign distributors. The Company performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally
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requires no collateral from these customers. Historically, the
Company’s bad debt expense has been low. However, the
recent downturn in the retail golf equipment market, primarily
in the United States, has resulted in delinquent or uncollectible
accounts for some of the Company’s significant customers. As a
result, during 1999 the Company wrote off approximately $5.3
million of past due trade accounts receivable against the
Company’s reserve for uncollectible accounts receivable.
Management does not foresee any significant improvement in
the U.S. retail golf equipment market during 2000. In addition,
the Company’s transition in Japan from selling to one distribu-
tor to selling directly to many retailers could increase the
Company’s delinquent or uncollectible accounts. There can be
no assurance that failure of the Company’s customers to meet
their obligations to the Company will not adversely impact the
Company’s results of operations or cash flows.

Dependence on Certain Vendors and Materials

The Company is dependent on a limited number of suppliers
for its club heads and shafts. In addition, some of the
Company’s products require specifically developed manufac-
turing techniques and processes which make it difficult to
identify and utilize alternative suppliers quickly. The Company
believes that suitable club heads and shafts could be obtained
from other manufacturers in the event its regular suppliers are
unable to provide components. However, any significant pro-
duction delay or disruption caused by the inability of current
suppliers to deliver or the transition to other suppliers could
have a material adverse impact on the Company’s results of
operations.

The Company is also dependent on a limited number of
suppliers for the materials it uses to make its golf balls. Many
of the materials, including the golf ball cover, are customized
for the Company. Any delay or interruption in such supplies
could have a material adverse impact upon the Company’s golf
ball business. If the Company did experience any such delays
or interruptions, there is no assurance that the Company
would be able to find adequate alternative suppliers at a rea-
sonable cost or without significant disruption to its business.

The Company uses United Parcel Service (“UPS”) for sub-
stantially all ground shipments of products to its U.S. cus-
tomers. The Company is continually reviewing alternative
methods of ground shipping to supplement its use and reduce
its reliance on UPS. To date, a limited number of alternative
vendors have been identified and are being used by the
Company. Nevertheless, any interruption in UPS services could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s sales and
results of operations.

The Company’s size has made it a large consumer of cer-
tain materials, including titanium alloys and carbon fiber.
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The Company does not make these materials itself, and must
rely on its ability to obtain adequate supplies in the world mar-
ketplace in competition with other users of such materials.
While the Company has been successful in obtaining its
requirements for such materials thus far, there can be no
assurance that it always will be able to do so. An interruption
in the supply of such materials or a significant change in costs
could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

The golf club industry, in general, has been characterized by
widespread imitation of popular club designs. The Company
has an active program of enforcing its proprietary rights
against companies and individuals who market or manufac-
ture counterfeits and “knock off” products, and aggressively
asserts its rights against infringers of its copyrights, patents,
trademarks, and trade dress. However, there is no assurance
that these efforts will reduce the level of acceptance obtained
by these infringers. Additionally, there can be no assurance
that other golf club manufacturers will not be able to produce
successful golf clubs which imitate the Company’s designs
without infringing any of the Company’s copyrights, patents,
trademarks, or trade dress.

An increasing number of the Company’s competitors
have, like the Company itself, sought to obtain patent, trade-
mark, copyright or other protection of their proprietary rights
and designs for golf clubs. From time to time others have or
may contact the Company to claim that they have proprietary
rights that have been infringed by the Company and/or its
products. The Company evaluates any such claims and, where
appropriate, has obtained or sought to obtain licenses or
other business arrangements. To date, there have been no
interruptions in the Company’s business as a result of any
claims of infringement. No assurance can be given, however,
that the Company will not be adversely affected in the future
by the assertion of intellectual property rights belonging to
others. This effect could include alteration of existing prod-
ucts, withdrawal of existing products and delayed introduc-
tion of new products.

Various patents have been issued to the Company’s
competitors in the golf ball industry. As Callaway Golf Ball
Company developed its new golf ball product, it attempted to
avoid infringing valid patents or other intellectual property
rights. Despite these attempts, it cannot be guaranteed that
a competitor will not assert and/or a court will not find that
the Company's new golf ball products infringe any patent or
other rights of competitors. If the Company’s new golf ball
product is found to infringe on protected technology, there is
no assurance that the Company would be able to obtain a
license to use such technology, and the Company could incur



substantial costs to redesign its golf ball product and/or
defend legal actions.

The Company has procedures to maintain the secrecy of
its confidential business information. These procedures
include criteria for dissemination of information and written
confidentiality agreements with employees and vendors.
Suppliers, when engaged in joint research projects, are
required to enter into additional confidentiality agreements.
While these efforts are taken seriously, there can be no assur-
ance that these measures will prove adequate in all instances
to protect the Company’s confidential information.

“Gray Market” Distribution

Some quantities of the Company’s products find their way to
unapproved outlets or distribution channels. This “gray mar-
ket” for the Company’s products can undermine authorized
retailers and foreign wholesale distributors who promote and
support the Company’s products, and can injure the
Company’s image in the minds of its customers and con-
sumers. On the other hand, stopping such commerce could
result in a potential decrease in sales to those customers who
are selling Callaway Golf® products to unauthorized distribu-
tors and/or an increase in sales returns over historical levels.
For example, the Company experienced a decline in sales in
the United States in 1998, and believes the decline was due, in
part, to a decline in “gray market” shipments to Asia and
Europe. While the Company has taken some lawful steps to
limit commerce in its products in the “gray market” in both the
U.S. and abroad, it has not stopped such commerce.

Golf Professional Endorsements

The Company establishes relationships with professional
golfers in order to evaluate and promote Callaway Golf® and
Odyssey® branded products. The Company has entered into
endorsement arrangements with members of the various pro-
fessional tours, including the Senior PGA Tour, the PGA Tour,
the LPGA Tour and the PGA European Tour. While most profes-
sional golfers fulfill their contractual obligations, some have
been known to stop using a sponsor’s products despite con-
tractual commitments. If certain of the Company’s profession-
al endorsers were to stop using the Company’s products con-
trary to their endorsement agreements, the Company’s busi-
ness could be adversely affected in a material way by the neg-
ative publicity.

Many professional golfers throughout the world use the
Company’s golf clubs even though they are not contractually
bound to do so and do not grant any endorsement to the
Company. In addition, the Company has created cash pools
(“Pools™) that reward such usage. However, in 1999, as com-
pared to 1998, the Company significantly reduced these Pools

for both Callaway Golf® and Odyssey® brand products for the
PGA and the Senior PGA Tours, and has significantly reduced
the Pools for Odyssey® brand products and eliminated the
Pools for Callaway Golf® brand products for the LPGA and
buy.com (formerly Nike) tours. The Company expects that the
Pools for 2000 will be comparable to 1999. In addition, many
other companies are aggressively seeking the patronage of
these professionals, and are offering many inducements,
including specially designed products and significant cash
rewards. As a result, in 1999, usage of the Company’s drivers
on the PGA, Senior PGA, LPGA and buy.com tours was sub-
stantially reduced compared to 1998. This trend may continue
in the year 2000.

For the last several years, the Company has experienced
an exceptional level of driver penetration on the world’s five
major professional tours, and the Company has heavily adver-
tised that fact. While it is not clear to what extent professional
usage contributes to retail sales, it is possible that the recent
decline in the level of professional usage of the Company’s
products could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business.

Many golf ball manufacturers, including the leading U.S.
manufacturer of premium golf balls, have focused a great deal
of their marketing efforts on promoting the fact that tour pro-
fessionals use their balls. Some of these golf ball competitors
spend large amounts of money to secure professional endorse-
ments, and the market leader has obtained a very high degree
of tour penetration. While several of the Company’s staff pro-
fessionals have decided to use the Company’s golf balls in play,
there are others who are already under contract with other golf
ball manufacturers or, for other reasons, may not choose to
play the Company’s products. In addition, several professionals
who are not on the Company’s staff have expressed an interest
in playing the Company’s ball, but it is too early to predict if a
significant number will actually do so. The Company does not
plan to match the endorsement spending levels of the leading
manufacturer in 2000, and will instead rely more heavily upon
the performance of the ball and other factors to attract profes-
sionals to the product. In the future the Company may or may
not increase its tour spending in support of the golf ball. It is
not clear to what extent use by professionals is important to
the commercial success of the Company’s golf ball, but it is pos-
sible that the results of the Company’s golf ball business could
be significantly affected by its success or lack of success in
securing acceptance on the professional tours.

International Distribution
The Company’s management believes that controlling the dis-
tribution of its products in certain major markets in the world
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has been and will be an element in the future growth and suc-
cess of the Company. The Company has been actively pursuing
a reorganization of its international operations, including the
acquisition of distribution rights in certain key countries in
Europe, Asia and North America. These efforts have resulted
and will continue to result in additional investments in inven-
tory, accounts receivable, corporate infrastructure and facili-
ties. The integration of foreign distribution into the Company’s
international sales operations will continue to require the ded-
ication of management and other Company resources.

Additionally, the Company’s plan to integrate foreign dis-
tribution increases the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in
exchange rates for various foreign currencies which could
result in losses and, in turn, could adversely impact the
Company’s results of operations. There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to mitigate this exposure in the
future through its management of foreign currency transac-
tions. The integration of foreign distribution also could result
in disruptions in the distribution of the Company’s products in
some areas. There can be no assurance that the acquisition of
some or all of the Company’s foreign distribution will be suc-
cessful, and it is possible that an attempt to do so will adverse-
ly affect the Company’s business.

The Company appointed Sumitomo as the sole distribu-
tor of Callaway Golf® clubs in Japan, through a distribution
agreement that ended December 31, 1999. In 1999, 1998 and
1997, sales to Sumitomo accounted for 7%, 8% and 10%,
respectively, of the Company’s net sales. In the fourth quarter
of 1999, the Company successfully completed negotiations
with Sumitomo to provide a smooth transition of its business.
As a result of the transition agreement, the Company recorded
a net charge of $8.6 million in the fourth quarter of 1999 for
buying certain current inventory, payments for non-current
inventory and other transition expenses, including foreign cur-
rency transaction losses.

Effective January 1, 2000, the Company began distribut-
ing Callaway Golf® brand products through Callaway Golf
K. K., which also distributes Odyssey® products and will also
distribute Callaway Golf™ balls. In addition to the fourth
quarter 1999 charges noted above, there will be significant
costs and capital expenditures invested in Callaway Golf K. K.
before there will be sales sufficient to support such costs.
Furthermore, there are significant risks associated with the
Company’s intention to effectuate distribution of Callaway
Golf® products in Japan through Callaway Golf K. K. rather
than through Sumitomo. Some of these risks include
increased delinquent and uncollectible accounts now that
the Company will be collecting its receivables from many
retailers as opposed to only one distributor. Furthermore, the
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Company will no longer have the benefit of the minimum pur-
chases that Sumitomo was required to make. It is possible
that these circumstances could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s operations and financial perfor-
mance. There also will be a delay in the recording of revenues
for sales in Japan as compared to previous years because rev-
enue now will be recorded upon sale to retailers and not
upon sale to a distributor.

Year 2000 Issue

The Y2K issue is the name given to the computer program
problem whereby two digits rather than four were used to
define the applicable year, which could result in the program
failing to properly recognize a year that begins with “20”
instead of “19.” This, in turn, could result in major system fail-
ures or miscalculations, and is generally referred to as the
“Year 2000” or “Y2K” issue. A more detailed description of the
risks associated with the Y2K issue as applied to the Company
and the Company’s remedial actions and contingency plans for
the Y2K issue are contained in certain of the Company’s prior
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, includ-
ing its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 1999.

The Y2K issue has not had, and is not expected to have,
any material adverse effect on the Company. In 1998 and 1999
the Company formulated and implemented a Year 2000 Plan to
address the Company’s Y2K issue. To date, the Company’s
computer systems and manufacturing facilities have operated
without any significant Year 2000 problems and appear to be
Year 2000 compliant. The Company is not aware that any of its
major third party suppliers have experienced any significant
Year 2000 problems. The Company currently does not expect
any significant future disruptions in its operations as a result
of the Y2K issue. Nevertheless, since it is impossible to predict
all future outcomes, there could be circumstances in which the
Company could be adversely affected.

The total cost associated with the assessment and
required modifications to implement the Company’s Year 2000
Plan to date has not been material to the Company’s financial
position or results of operations. The Company does not
expect to incur any significant future expenses related to the
Y2K issue. The total amount expended on the Year 2000 plan
through December 1999 was $2.7 million, of which approxi-
mately $1.2 million related to repair or replacement of soft-
ware and related hardware problems and approximately $1.5
million related to internal and external labor costs.

Euro Currency
Many of the countries in which the Company sells its prod-
ucts are Member States of the Economic and Monetary Union



(“EMU”). Beginning January 1, 1999, Member States of the
EMU have the option of trading in either their local curren-
cies or the euro, the official currency of EMU participating
Member States. Parties are free to choose the unit they pre-
fer in contractual relationships until 2002 when their local
currencies will be phased out. The current version of the
Company's enterprise-wide business system does not sup-
port transactions denominated in euro. During 2000, the
Company intends to upgrade its business system. The
upgraded version of this business system should support
transactions denominated in euro. The Company intends to
enable the euro functionality of its upgraded system no later
than its third quarter in 2001. Until such time as the upgrade
has occurred and the euro functionality has been enabled,
transactions denominated in euro will be processed manual-
ly. To date, the Company has not experienced, and does not
anticipate in the near future, a large demand from its cus-
tomers to transact in euro. Additionally, the Company does
not believe that it will incur material costs specifically asso-
ciated with manually processing data or preparing its busi-
ness systems to operate in either the transitional period or
beyond. However, there can be no assurance that the conver-
sion of EMU Member States to euro will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company and its operations.

Market Risk

The Company is exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluc-
tuations due to its international operations and certain export
sales. The Company is exposed to both transactional curren-
cy/functional currency and functional currency/reporting cur-
rency exchange rate risks. In the normal course of business,
the Company employs established policies and procedures to
manage its exposure to fluctuations in the value of foreign cur-
rencies. Pursuant to its foreign exchange hedging policy,
beginning in January 1999, the Company may use forward for-
eign currency exchange rate contracts to hedge certain firm
commitments and the related receivables and payables with
its foreign subsidiaries. During 1999, the Company entered
into such contracts on behalf of two of its wholly-owned sub-
sidiaries, Callaway Golf Europe Ltd. and Callaway Golf Canada
Ltd. The Company also hedged certain yen-denominated
transactions with its Japanese distributor. The effect of this
practice is to minimize variability in the Company’s operating
results arising from foreign exchange rate movements. These
foreign exchange contracts generally do not subject the
Company to risk due to exchange rate movements because
gains and losses on these contracts offset losses and gains on
the transactions being hedged, and the Company does not
engage in hedging contracts which exceed the amounts of
these transactions.

Also pursuant to its foreign exchange hedging policy, the
Company expects that it also may hedge anticipated transac-
tions denominated in foreign currencies using forward foreign
currency exchange rate contracts and put or call options.
Foreign currency derivatives will be used only to the extent
considered necessary to meet the Company’s objectives and
the Company does not enter into forward contracts for specu-
lative purposes. The Company’s foreign currency exposures
include most European currencies, Japanese yen, Canadian
dollars and Korean won.

Additionally, the Company is exposed to interest rate
risk from its Accounts Receivable Facility and Amended
Credit Agreement (see Notes 4 and 5 to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements) which are indexed to the
London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) and Redwood
Receivables Corporation Commercial Paper Rate. No
amounts were outstanding or advanced under these facilities
at December 31, 1999.

Sensitivity analysis is the measurement of potential loss
in future earnings of market sensitive instruments resulting
from one or more selected hypothetical changes in interest
rates or foreign currency values. The Company used a sensitiv-
ity analysis model to quantify the estimated potential effect of
unfavorable movements of 10% in foreign currencies to which
the Company was exposed at December 31, 1999 through its
derivative financial instruments.

The sensitivity analysis model is a risk analysis tool and
does not purport to represent actual losses in earnings that
will be incurred by the Company, nor does it consider the
potential effect of favorable changes in market rates. It also
does not represent the maximum possible loss that may occur.
Actual future gains and losses will differ from those estimated
because of changes or differences in market rates and interre-
lationships, hedging instruments and hedge percentages, tim-
ing and other factors.

The estimated maximum one-day loss in earnings from
the Company’s foreign-currency derivative financial instru-
ments, calculated using the sensitivity analysis model
described above, is $112,000 at December 31, 1999. The
Company believes that such a hypothetical loss from its deriv-
atives would be offset by increases in the value of the under-
lying transactions being hedged.

Notes 4 and 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
outline the principal amounts, and other terms required to
evaluate the expected cash flows and sensitivity to interest
rate changes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,

1999 1998
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $112,602 $ 45,618
Accounts receivable, net 54,252 73,466
Inventories, net 97,938 149,192
Deferred taxes 32,558 51,029
Other current assets 13,122 4,301
Total current assets 310,472 323,606
Property, plant and equipment, net 142,214 172,794
Intangible assets, net 120,143 127,779
Other assets 43,954 31,648
$616,783 $ 655,827
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 46,664 $ 35,928
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 21,126 11,083
Accrued warranty expense 36,105 35,815
Line of credit 70,919
Note payable 12,971
Accrued restructuring costs 1,379 7,389
Income taxes payable 9,903
Total current liabilities 105,274 184,008
Long-term liabilities:
Deferred compensation 11,575 7,606
Accrued restructuring costs 11,117
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 3,000,000 shares authorized, none issued
and outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 240,000,000 shares authorized,
76,302,196 and 75,095,087 issued and outstanding at
December 31, 1999 and 1998 763 751
Paid-in capital 307,329 258,015
Unearned compensation (2,784) (5,653)
Retained earnings 288,090 252,528
Accumulated other comprehensive income 280 1,780
Less: Grantor Stock Trust (5,300,000 shares at December 31, 1999
and 1998) at market (Note 6) (93,744) (54,325)
Total shareholders’ equity 499,934 453,096
$616,783 $ 655,827

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data) Year ended December 31,
1999 1998 1997

Net sales $714,471 100% $697,621 100% $842,927  100%
Cost of goods sold 376,405 53% 401,607 58% 400,127 47%

Gross profit 338,066 47% 296,014 42% 442,800 53%
Selling expenses 131,858 18% 147,022 21% 120,589 14%
General and administrative expenses 92,478 13% 98,048 14% 70,724 8%
Research and development costs 34,002 5% 36,848 5% 30,298 4%
Restructuring costs (Note 12) (5,894) (1%) 54,235 8%
Sumitomo transition costs (Note 15) 5,713 1%
Litigation settlement 12,000 1%

Income (loss) from operations 79,909 11% (40,139) (6%) 209,189 25%
Interest and other income, net (Note 9) 9,182 3,911 4,586
Interest expense (3,594) (2,671) (10)
Income (loss) before income taxes 85,497 12% (38,899) (6%) 213,765 25%
Income tax provision (benefit) 30,175 (12,335) 81,061

Net income (loss) $ 55,322 8%  ($26,564) (4%) $132,704 16%
Earnings (loss) per common share:

Basic $0.79 ($0.38) $1.94

Diluted $0.78 ($0.38) $1.85
Common equivalent shares:

Basic 70,397 69,463 68,407

Diluted 71,214 69,463 71,698

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLows

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 55,322 ($ 26,564) $ 132,704
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 39,877 35,885 19,408
Non-cash compensation 1,390 2,887 2,041
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 2,377 3,068 29,786
Deferred taxes 9,971 (36,235) 1,030
Non-cash restructuring costs (8,609) 25,497
Loss on disposal of assets 315 1,298 2
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net 19,690 51,575 (36,936)
Inventories, net 51,092 (42,665) 6,271
Other assets (12,966) (12,149) (6,818)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,225 (4,357) 13,529
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 9,875 (3,411) (2,437)
Accrued warranty expense 286 7,760 756
Income taxes payable (10,001) 9,652 (2,636)
Accrued restructuring costs (3,476) 7,389
Deferred compensation 3,969 (299) 2,796
Accrued restructuring costs - long-term (5,041) 11,117
Net cash provided by operating activities 166,296 30,448 159,496
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (56,244) (67,859) (67,938)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (2,389) (10,672) (129,256)
Proceeds from sale of assets 5,095 3,417 72
Net cash used in investing activities (53,538) (75,114) (197,122)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net (payments on) proceeds from line of credit (70,919) 70,919
Proceeds from note payable 35,761 12,971
Short-term debt retirement (10,373)
Issuance of Common Stock 9,009 10,343 27,530
Retirement of Common Stock 917) (52,985)
Dividends paid, net (19,760) (19,485) (19,123)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (45,909) 63,458 (44,578)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 135 622 (49)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 66,984 19,414 (82,253)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 45,618 26,204 108,457
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $112,602 $ 45,618 $ 26,204
Supplemental disclosures:
Non-cash financing (Note 4) $ 48,732
Cash paid for interest and fees $ 3,637 $ 2,162 $ 10
Cash paid for income taxes $ 30,670 $ 8,165 $ 54,358

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EqQuITYy

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Other

Current
Year’s

Common Stock Paid-In Unearned Retained Comprehensive Comprehensive
Shares  Amount Capital Compensation Earnings Income GST Total Income
Balance, December 31, 1996 72,855 $729  $278,669  ($3,105) $238,113 $236 ($152,375) $362,267
Exercise of stock options 2,877 29 21,529 21,558
Tax benefit from exercise of
stock options 29,786 29,786
Compensatory stock options 2,511 (470) 2,041
Employee stock purchase plan 372 4 5,968 5,972
Stock retirement (1,852) (19) (52,966) (52,985)
Cash dividends (20,607) (20,607)
Dividends on shares held by GST 1,484 1,484
Adjustment of GST shares to
market value (1,060) 1,060
Equity adjustment from foreign
currency translation (795) (795) ($795)
Net income 132,704 132,704 132,704
Balance, December 31, 1997 74,252 743 337,403 (3,575) 298,728 (559)  (151,315) 481,425 $131,909
Exercise of stock options 391 4 4,433 4,437
Tax benefit from exercise of
stock options 3,068 3,068
Issuance of Restricted
Common Stock 130 1 4,029 (4,030)
Cancellation of Restricted
Common Stock 19) (597) 597
Compensatory stock and
stock options 1,532 1,355 2,887
Employee stock purchase plan 386 4 5,902 5,906
Stock retirement (45) 1) (765) (151) 917)
Cash dividends (20,969) (20,969)
Dividends on shares held by GST 1,484 1,484
Adjustment of GST shares to
market value (96,990) 96,990
Equity adjustment from foreign
currency translation 2,339 2,339 $2,339
Net loss (26,564) (26,564) (26,564)
Balance, December 31, 1998 75,095 751 258,015 (5,653) 252,528 1,780 (54,325) 453,096 ($24,225)
Exercise of stock options 851 8 5,362 5,370
Tax benefit from exercise of
stock options 2,377 2,377
Cancellation of Restricted
Common Stock 22) (684) 684
Compensatory stock and
stock options (795) 2,185 1,390
Employee stock purchase plan 378 4 3,635 3,639
Cash dividends (21,244) (21,244)
Dividends on shares held by GST 1,484 1,484
Adjustment of GST shares to
market value 39,419 (39,419)
Equity adjustment from foreign
currency translation (1,500) (1,500) ($1,500)
Net income 55,322 55,322 55,322
Balance, December 31, 1999 76,302 $763  $307,329  ($2,784)  $288,090 $280 ($93,744) $499,934 $53,822
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NoTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NoTE 1
THE COMPANY

Callaway Golf Company (“Callaway Golf” or the “Company”)
was incorporated in California in 1982 and was reincorporat-
ed in Delaware in 1999. The Company designs, develops,
manufactures and markets high-quality, innovative golf clubs.
Callaway Golf’s primary products for the periods presented
include Great Big Bertha® Hawk Eye® Titanium Metal Woods,
Big Bertha® Steelhead™ Metal Woods, Biggest Big Bertha®
Titanium Drivers, Great Big Bertha® Titanium Metal Woods,
Big Bertha® Metal Woods with the War Bird® soleplate, Great
Big Bertha® Tungsten Injected™ Titanium Irons, Big Bertha®
X-12® Irons, Great Big Bertha® TungsteneTitanium™ Irons, Big
Bertha® Irons, Odyssey® putters and wedges and various
other putters.

NoTE 2
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements for the periods present-
ed include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries,
Callaway Golf Sales Company, Golf Funding Corporation (“Golf
Funding”), Callaway Golf Ball Company, Odyssey Golf, Inc.
(“Odyssey”), CGV, Inc., All-American Golf LLC (“All-American”),
Callaway Golf Media Ventures (“CGMV”), Callaway Golf Europe
Ltd., Callaway Golf Europe, S.A., Callaway Golf K.K. (formerly
named ERC International Company), Callaway Golf (Germany)
GmbH, Callaway Golf Canada Ltd. and Callaway Golf Korea,
Ltd.. All significant intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated. The Company sold the business of All-
American in 1998 and its interest in CGMV in March 1999 (Note
14). Callaway Golf Europe, S.A. was merged with Callaway Golf
Europe Ltd. in 1999 (Note 14).

Financial Statement Preparation

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Examples of such esti-
mates include provisions for warranty, uncollectible accounts
receivable, inventory obsolescence and restructuring costs
(Note 12). Actual results could differ from those estimates,
which could materially affect future results of operations.
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Revenue Recognition
Sales are recognized at the time goods are shipped, net of an
allowance for sales returns.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables and payables, forward foreign
currency exchange contracts, its revolving line of credit and
note payable (Note 4) and its accounts receivable securitiza-
tion facility (Note 5). The carrying amounts of these instru-
ments approximate fair value because of their short maturities
and variable interest rates.

Advertising Costs

The Company advertises primarily through television and print
media. The Company’s policy is to expense advertising costs,
including production costs, as incurred. Advertising expenses
for 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $26,202,000, $32,944,000 and
$20,320,000 respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

The accounts of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries have been
translated into United States dollars at appropriate rates of
exchange. Cumulative translation gains or losses are recorded
as accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders’
equity. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency trans-
actions (transactions denominated in a currency other than
the entity’s local currency) are included in the consolidated
statement of operations. The Company recorded transaction
losses of $793,000 in 1999, transaction gains of $1,598,000 in
1998 and transaction losses of $940,000 in 1997.

During 1999, 1998 and 1997, the Company entered into
forward foreign currency exchange rate contracts to hedge
payments due on intercompany transactions by certain of its
wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries. The Company also hedged
certain yen-denominated transactions with its Japanese dis-
tributor. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these
contracts are recorded in income. The effect of this practice is
to minimize variability in the Company’s operating results aris-
ing from foreign exchange rate movements. The Company does
not engage in foreign currency speculation. These foreign
exchange contracts generally do not subject the Company to
risk due to exchange rate movements because gains and loss-
es on these contracts offset losses and gains on the intercom-
pany transactions being hedged, and the Company does not
engage in hedging contracts which exceed the amount of the
intercompany transactions. At December 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997, the Company had approximately $7,117,000,
$11,543,000 and $2,575,000, respectively, of foreign
exchange contracts outstanding. The contracts outstanding at



December 31, 1999 mature between January and June of 2000.
The Company had net realized and unrealized gains on foreign
exchange contracts of $358,000, $57,000 and $261,000 in
1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities.” This statement establishes accounting
and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedg-
ing activities and requires that an entity recognize all deriva-
tives as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet and
measure those instruments at fair value. Changes in the fair
value of derivatives are recorded each period in income or
other comprehensive income, depending on whether the
derivatives are designated as hedges and, if so, the types of
hedges. SFAS No. 133 is effective for all periods beginning
after June 15, 2000; the Company elected to adopt early SFAS
No. 133 on January 1, 1999.

Adoption of this statement did not significantly affect the
way in which the Company currently accounts for derivatives
to hedge payments due on intercompany transactions, as
described above. Accordingly, no cumulative effect adjust-
ments were made. However, the Company expects that it also
may hedge anticipated transactions denominated in foreign
currencies using forward foreign currency exchange rate con-
tracts and put or call options. The forward contracts used to
hedge anticipated transactions will be recorded as either
assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. Gains and
losses on such contracts will be recorded in other comprehen-
sive income and will be recorded in income when the antici-
pated transactions occur. The ineffective portion of all hedges
will be recognized in current period earnings.

Earnings per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net
income for the period by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earn-
ings per common share is calculated by dividing net income for
the period by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period, increased by dilutive potential
common shares (“dilutive securities”) that were outstanding
during the period. Dilutive securities include shares owned by
the Callaway Golf Company Grantor Stock Trust (Note 6),
options issued pursuant to the Company’s stock option plans
(Note 8), potential shares related to the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (Note 8) and rights to purchase preferred
shares under the Callaway Golf Company Shareholder Rights
Plan (Note 8). Dilutive securities related to the Callaway Golf
Company Grantor Stock Trust and the Company’s stock option
plans are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per

common share using the treasury stock method. Dilutive secu-
rities related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan are calcu-
lated by dividing the average withholdings during the period
by 85% of the lower of the offering period price or the market
value at the end of the period. The dilutive effect of rights to
purchase preferred shares under the Callaway Golf
Shareholder Rights Plan have not been included as dilutive
securities because the conditions necessary to cause these
rights to be redeemed were not met. A reconciliation of the
numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earn-
ings per common share calculations for the years ended
December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 is presented in Note 7.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments purchased with
maturities of three months or less.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over estimated useful lives of two to 30
years. The Company’s property, plant and equipment general-
ly are depreciated over the following periods:

Buildings and improvements 10-30 years
Machinery and equipment 5-15 years
Furniture, computers and equipment : 3-5 years
Production molds 2 years

Normal repairs and maintenance are expensed as
incurred. Expenditures that materially increase values, change
capacities or extend useful lives are capitalized. Replacements
are capitalized and the property, plant, and equipment
accounts are relieved of the items being replaced. The related
costs and accumulated depreciation of disposed assets are
eliminated and any resulting gain or loss on disposition is
included in income.

The Company capitalizes certain software development
and implementation costs. Development and implementation
costs are expensed until management has determined that the
software will result in probable future economic benefit and
management has committed to funding the project. Thereafter,
all direct external implementation costs, as well as purchased
software costs, are capitalized and amortized using the
straight-line method over the remaining estimated useful
lives, not exceeding five years.
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Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses potential impairments of its long-
lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in
circumstances have made recovery of the asset’s carrying
value unlikely. An impairment loss would be recognized when
the sum of the expected future net cash flows is less than the
carrying amount of the asset. During the fourth quarter of
1998, the Company implemented a restructuring plan that
included a number of cost reduction actions and operational
improvements (Note 12). As a result of this plan, impairment
losses were recorded in 1998 for certain of the Company’s
long-lived assets.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of trade name, trademark,
trade dress, patents and goodwill resulting from the purchase
of substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of
Odyssey Sports, Inc. and goodwill associated with the pur-
chase of certain foreign distributors (Note 14). Intangible
assets are amortized using the straight-line method over peri-
ods ranging from three to 40 years. During 1999, 1998 and
1997, amortization of intangible assets was $7,476,000,
$5,466,000 and $1,778,000 respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures compensation expense for its stock-
based employee compensation awards using the intrinsic value
method. Pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per
share, as if the fair value-based method had been applied in
measuring compensation expense, are presented in Note 8.
Compensation expense for non-employee stock-based com-
pensation awards is measured using the fair-value method.

Income Taxes

Current income tax expense is the amount of income taxes
expected to be payable for the current year. A deferred income
tax asset or liability is established for the expected future con-
sequences resulting from differences in the financial reporting
and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax
expense (benefit) is the net change during the year in the
deferred income tax asset or liability.

Deferred taxes have not been provided on the cumulative
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries since such
amounts are expected to be reinvested indefinitely. The
Company provides a valuation allowance for its deferred tax
assets when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely
than not that such assets will not be realized.

Comprehensive Income
SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” requires
that all components of comprehensive income be reported in
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the financial statements in the period in which they are recog-
nized. The components of comprehensive income for the
Company include net income and foreign currency translation
adjustments. Since the Company has met the indefinite
reversal criterion, it does not accrue income taxes on foreign
currency translation adjustments.

Segment Information

In 1998, the Company adopted SFAS No. 131, “Diclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.”
SFAS No. 131 supersedes SFAS No. 14, “Financial Reporting
for Segments of a Business Enterprise,” replacing the industry
segment approach with the management approach. The man-
agement approach designates the international organization
that is used by management for making operating decisions
and assessing performance as the source of the Company’s
reportable segments. SFAS No. 131 also requires disclosures
about products and services, geographic areas and major cus-
tomers. The adoption of this standard did not affect the
Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash
flows. This information is presented in Note 15.

Diversification of Credit Risk

The Company’s financial instruments that are subject to con-
centrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents
and trade receivables.

The Company may invest its excess cash in money market
accounts and U.S. Government securities and has established
guidelines relative to diversification and maturities in an effort
to maintain safety and liquidity. These guidelines are periodi-
cally reviewed and modified to take advantage of trends in
yields and interest rates. During 1999 and 1998, no invest-
ments in U.S. Government securities were held.

The Company operates in the golf equipment industry
and primarily sells its products to golf equipment retailers and
foreign distributors. The Company performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally
requires no collateral from these customers. The Company
maintains reserves for potential credit losses, which it consid-
ers adequate to cover any such losses.

During 1999, 1998, and 1997, approximately 42%, 38%
and 35%, respectively, of the Company’s net sales were made
to foreign customers. An adverse change in either economic
conditions abroad or the Company’s relationship with signifi-
cant distributors could negatively impact the volume of the
Company’s international sales and the Company’s results of
operations, cash flows and financial position.

Reclassifications
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to con-
form with the current period presentation.



NoTE 3

SELECTED FINANCIAL STATEMENT INFORMATION

NoTE 4
BANK LINE OF CREDIT AND NOTE PAYABLE

(in thousands)

December 31,

1999 1998
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash, interest bearing $110,157 $ 41,689
Cash, non-interest bearing 2,445 3,929
$112,602 $ 45,618
Accounts receivable, net:
Trade accounts receivable $ 59,543 $ 83,405
Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,291) (9,939)
$ 54,252 | $ 73,466
Inventories, net:
Raw materials $ 45,868 $102,352
Work-in-process 1,403 1,820
Finished goods 65,661 81,868
112,932 186,040
Reserve for obsolescence (14,994) (36,848)
$ 97,938 | $149,192
Property, plant and equipment, net:
Land $ 12,358 = $ 13,375
Buildings and improvements 87,910 55,307
Machinery and equipment 50,942 57,334
Furniture, computers and equipment 64,334 55,629
Production molds 22,714 17,472
Construction-in-process 5,032 52,920
243,290 252,037
Accumulated depreciation (101,076) (79,243)
$142,214 | $172,794
Intangible assets:
Trade name $ 69,629 $ 69,629
Trademark and trade dress 29,841 29,841
Patents, goodwill and other 34,911 35,765
134,381 135,235
Accumulated amortization (14,238) (7,456)
$120,143 $127,779
Accounts payable and accrued expenses:
Accounts payable $ 11,297 $ 10,341
Note to related party (Note 16) 6,766
Accrued expenses 35,367 18,821
$ 46,664 | $ 35,928
Accrued employee compensation and
benefits:
Accrued payroll and taxes $ 15,303 $ 6,178
Accrued vacation and sick pay 4,571 4,423
Accrued commissions 1,252 482
$ 21,126 | $ 11,083

On February 12, 1999, the Company consummated the
amendment of its credit facility to increase the facility to up
to $120,000,000 (the “Amended Credit Agreement”). The
Amended Credit Agreement has a five-year term and is
secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company.
The Amended Credit Agreement bears interest at the
Company’s election at the London Interbank Offering Rate
(“LIBOR”) plus a margin or the higher of the base rate on cor-
porate loans at large U.S. money center commercial banks
(prime rate) or the Federal Funds Rate plus 50 basis points.
The line of credit requires the Company to maintain certain
minimum financial ratios, including a fixed charge coverage
ratio, as well as other restrictive covenants. As of December
31, 1999, up to $115,739,000 of the credit facility remained
available for borrowings (including a reduction of $4,261,000
for outstanding letters of credit), subject to meeting certain
availability requirements under a borrowing base formula
and other limitations.

On December 30, 1998, Callaway Golf Ball Company, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a mas-
ter lease agreement for the acquisition and lease of up to
$56,000,000 of machinery and equipment. As of December
31, 1999, the Company had finalized its lease program and
leased $50,000,000 of equipment pursuant to the master
lease agreement. This lease program includes an interim
finance agreement (the “Finance Agreement”). The Finance
Agreement provides pre-lease financing advances for the
acquisition and installation costs of the aforementioned
machinery and equipment. The Finance Agreement bears
interest at LIBOR plus a margin and is secured by the under-
lying machinery and equipment and a corporate guarantee
from the Company. During the third and fourth quarters of
1999, the Company converted the balance of this note
payable to the operating lease discussed above. As of
December 31, 1999, no amount was outstanding under this
facility.
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NoTE 5
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE SECURITIZATION

NoTE 6
GRANTOR STOCK TRUST

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Callaway Golf Sales
Company, sells trade receivables on an ongoing basis to its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Golf Funding. Pursuant to an agree-
ment effective February 12, 1999 with a securitization compa-
ny (the “Accounts Receivable Facility”), Golf Funding, in turn,
sells such receivables to the securitization company on an
ongoing basis, which yields proceeds of up to $80.0 million at
any point in time. Golf Funding’s sole business is the purchase
of trade receivables from Callaway Golf Sales Company. Golf
Funding is a separate corporate entity with its own separate
creditors, which in the event of its liquidation will be entitled
to be satisfied out of Golf Funding’s assets prior to any value in
Golf Funding becoming available to the Company. The
Accounts Receivable Facility expires in February 2004.

Under the Accounts Receivable Facility, the receivables
are sold at face value with payment of a portion of the pur-
chase price being deferred. As of December 31, 1999, no
amount was outstanding under the Accounts Receivable
Facility. Fees incurred in connection with the sale of accounts
receivable for year ended December 31, 1999 were $923,000
and were recorded as interest expense.

NoTE 7
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

In July 1995, the Company established the Callaway Golf
Company Grantor Stock Trust (the “GST”). In conjunction with
the formation of the GST, the Company sold 4,000,000 shares
of newly issued Common Stock to the GST at a purchase price
of $60,575,000 ($15.14 per share). In December 1995, the
Company sold an additional 1,300,000 shares of newly issued
Common Stock to the GST at a purchase price of $26,263,000
($20.20 per share). The sale of these shares had no net impact
on shareholders’ equity. During the term of the GST, shares in
the GST may be used to fund the Company’s obligations with
respect to one or more of the Company’s non-qualified or qual-
ified employee benefit plans.

Shares owned by the GST are accounted for as a reduc-
tion to shareholders’ equity until used in connection with
employee benefits. Each period, the shares owned by the GST
are valued at the closing market price, with corresponding
changes in the GST balance reflected in capital in excess of
par value.

The schedule below summarizes the elements included in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share for

the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997.

For the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1997, 10,979,000 and 917,000 options, respectively, were excluded from the cal-
culations, as their effect would have been antidilutive. For the year ended December 31, 1998, all dilutive securities were excluded

from the calculation of diluted loss per share, as their effect would have been antidulutive.

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997

Net income (loss) $ 55,322 ($ 26,564) $132,704
Weighted-average shares outstanding:

Weighted-average shares outstanding — Basic 70,397 69,463 68,407

Dilutive securities 817 3,291

Weighted-average shares outstanding — Diluted 71,214 69,463 71,698
Earnings (loss) per common share:

Basic $0.79 ($0.38) $1.94

Diluted $0.78 ($0.38) $1.85
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STOCK OPTIONS AND RIGHTS

Options

The Company had the following fixed stock option plans, under which shares were available for grant at December 31, 1999: the
1991 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1991 Plan”), the 1995 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (the “1995 Plan”), the 1996 Stock Option Plan
(the “1996 Plan”), the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1998 Plan”), the Promotion, Marketing and Endorsement Stock Incentive Plan
(the “Promotion Plan”) and the Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan (the “Directors Plan”).

The 1991 Plan, the 1996 Plan and the 1998 Plan permit the granting of options or other stock awards to the Company’s offi-
cers, employees and consultants. Under the 1991 Plan, option prices may be less than the market value at the date of grant, while
under the 1996 Plan and the 1998 Plan options may not be granted at option prices that are less than fair market value at the date
of grant. The 1995 Plan permits the granting of options or other stock awards to only employees and consultants of the Company at
option prices that may be less than market value at the date of grant. The 1995 Plan was amended in 1999 to increase the maximum
number of shares of Common Stock to be issued upon exercise of an option to 7,100,000 shares.

During 1996 and 1995, the Company granted options to purchase shares to two key officers, under separate plans, in con-
junction with terms of their initial employment (the “Key Officer Plans”). The 1990 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (the
“1990 Plan”) permitted the granting of options to officers, employees and consultants. No shares are available for grant under the
Key Officer Plans or the 1990 Plan.

Under the Promotion Plan, shares of Common Stock may be granted in the form of options or other stock awards to golf pro-
fessionals and other endorsers at prices that may be less than the market value of the stock at the grant date. The Directors Plan
permits the granting of options to purchase shares of Common Stock to Directors of the Company who are not employees, at prices
based on a non-discretionary formula, which may not be less than the market value of the stock at the date of grant.

The following table presents shares authorized, available for future grant and outstanding under each of the Company’s plans
as of December 31, 1999:

(in thousands)

Plan Authorized Available Outstanding
1990 Plan 4,920 100
1991 Plan 10,000 188 2,693
Promotion Plan 3,560 879 1,006
1995 Plan 7,100 1,647 5,249
1996 Plan 6,000 575 5,395
1998 Plan 500 500

Key Officer Plans 1,100 820
Directors Plan 840 64 484
Total 34,020 3,853 15,747

Under the Company’s stock option plans, outstanding options vest over periods ranging from zero to five years from the grant
date and expire up to ten years after the grant date.
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The following summarizes stock option transactions for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997:

(in thousands, except per share data) Year ended December 31,
1999 1998 1997
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 13,637 $22.62 11,257 $22.41 10,800 $15.03
Granted 4,012 $11.30 4,020 $25.04 3,406 $33.79
Exercised (851) $ 6.40 (441) $10.16 (2,877) $ 7.81
Canceled (1,051) $24.95 (1,199) $34.86 72) $28.81
Outstanding at end of year 15,747 $20.46 13,637 $22.62 11,257 $22.41
Options exercisable at end of year 11,066 $18.64 6,039 $17.78 3,453 $12.17
Price range of outstanding options $0.44 - $40.00 $0.44 - $40.00 $0.44 - $40.00

The following tables summarize additional information about outstanding stock options at December 31, 1999 and options and
other stock awards granted during 1999:

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING AND EXERCISABLE BY PRICE RANGE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1999:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
Range of Number Contractual Average Number Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life-Years Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
(in thousands) (in thousands)
$0-$10 762 2.21 $ 3.17 742 $ 3.01
$10-$15 5,294 3.92 $11.54 4,841 $10.54
$15-$25 2,642 4.75 $18.52 1,643 $18.75
$25 - $40 7,049 5.41 $29.75 3,840 $30.57
$0 - $40 15,747 4.64 $20.46 11,066 $18.64

OPTIONS AND OTHER STOCK AWARDS GRANTED DURING 1999:

Weighted-
Number Average
(in thousands) Exercise Price
Exercise price = market value 3,921 $11.16
Exercise price > market value 80 $18.88
Exercise price < market value 11 $ 8.56
4,012 $11.30
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During 1999, the Company, at its discretion, extended the
expiration terms of 1,532,000 options held by certain employ-
ees and officers. At the time of modification, the exercise
prices of the options were in excess of the then-current market
price and accordingly this action did not result in compensa-
tion expense for the Company.

During 1998, the Company modified certain terms of
720,000 options held by directors, certain officers and
employees. These modifications, which largely resulted from
the Company’s restructuring plan, included acceleration of
vesting and extension of expiration terms at the Company’s
discretion. At the time of modification, the exercise prices of
the options were in excess of the then-current market price
and accordingly this action did not result in compensation
expense for the Company.

Also during 1998, the Company canceled 150,000
options held by non-employees with option prices in excess of
the then-current market price of the Company’s stock. The
Company then reissued an equivalent number of options to
these non-employees at the then-current market price and
extended certain expiration terms, and recorded the related
compensation expense of $71,000. An additional $195,000
was recorded in unearned compensation, and is being amor-
tized over the remaining vesting periods.

Rights

The Company has granted officers, consultants, and employ-
ees rights to receive an aggregate of 826,800 shares of
Common Stock for services or other consideration. During
1998, 80,000 rights were exercised while none were granted.
No rights were granted or exercised during 1999 or 1997. At
December 31, 1999, no rights to receive shares of Common
Stock remained outstanding.

The Company has a plan to protect shareholders’ rights in
the event of a proposed takeover of the Company. Under the
plan, each share of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock
carries one right to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of
the Company’s Series “A” Junior Participating Preferred Stock
(the “Right”). The Right entitles the holder, under certain cir-
cumstances, to purchase Common Stock of Callaway Golf
Company or of the acquiring company at a substantially dis-
counted price ten days after a person or group publicly
announces it has acquired or has tendered an offer for 15% or
more of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock. The
Rights are redeemable by the Company at $.01 per Right and
expire in 2005.

Restricted Common Stock

During 1998, the Company granted 130,000 shares of
Restricted Common Stock to 26 officers of the Company. Of
these shares, 41,250 shares have been canceled due to the
service requirement not being met. The shares, which are
restricted as to sale or transfer until vesting, will vest on
January 1, 2003. The related net compensation expense of
$2,751,000 is being recognized ratably over the vesting peri-
od, based on the difference between the exercise price and
market value of the stock on the measurement date.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)
whereby eligible employees may purchase shares of Common
Stock at 85% of the lower of the fair market value on the first
day of a two year offering period or the last day of each six
month exercise period. Employees may authorize the
Company to withhold compensation during any offering peri-
od, subject to certain limitations. During 1997, the ESPP was
amended to increase the maximum number of shares of the
Company’s Common Stock that employees may acquire under
this plan to 1,500,000 shares. During 1999, 1998 and 1997,
the ESPP purchased approximately 378,000, 386,000 and
372,000 shares, respectively, of the Company’s Common
Stock. As of December 31, 1999, 195,000 shares were
reserved for future issuance and will be purchased on the
January 31, 2000 exercise period, resulting in the termination
of the ESPP.

In May 1999, the Company’s shareholders approved a
new ESPP (the “1999 ESPP”) with substantially the same
terms as the ESPP. There are 2,000,000 shares reserved for
issuance under the 1999 ESPP. This plan will be effective
February 1, 2000 upon the termination of the ESPP.

Compensation Expense

During 1999, 1998, and 1997, the Company recorded
$1,370,000, $2,321,000 and $2,041,000, respectively, in com-
pensation expense for Restricted Common Stock and certain
options to purchase shares of Common Stock granted to
employees, officers and consultants of the Company. The valu-
ation of options granted to non-employees is estimated using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Unearned compensation has been charged for the value
of options granted to both employees and non-employees on
the measurement date based on the valuation methods
described above. These amounts are amortized over the vest-
ing period. The unamortized portion of unearned compensa-
tion is shown as a reduction of shareholders’ equity in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
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Pro Forma Disclosures

If the Company had elected to recognize compensation
expense based upon the fair value at the grant date for
employee awards under these plans, the Company’s net
income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share would be changed
to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

(in thousands, except Year ended December 31,

per share data) 1999 1998 1997
Net income (loss):
As reported $ 55,322 ($26,564)  $132,704
Pro forma $ 34,422 ($46,847) $124,978
Earnings (loss) per
common share:
As reported
Basic $0.79 ($0.38) $1.94
Diluted $0.78 ($0.38) $1.85
Pro forma
Basic $0.49 ($0.67) $1.83
Diluted $0.48 ($0.67) $1.77

The pro forma amounts reflected above may not be rep-
resentative of future disclosures since the estimated fair value
of stock options is amortized to expense as the options vest
and additional options may be granted in future years. The fair
value of employee stock options was estimated at the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions for the years ended December 31,
1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively:

Year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
Dividend yield 1.4% | 1.9% | 0.9%
Expected volatility 45.6% 42.0% 31.5%

Risk free interest rates 5.36%—6.24% 4.66-4.72% 5.64-5.89%
Expected lives 1 3-4years i 3-6years i 3-6years

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options
granted during 1999 was $3.57 per share. The Black-Scholes
option valuation model was developed for use in estimating
the fair value of traded options which have no vesting restric-
tions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation
models require the input of highly subjective assumptions
including the expected stock price volatility. Because the
Company’s employee stock options have characteristics signif-
icantly different from those of traded options, and because
changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimates, in management’s opinion, the existing
models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of
the fair value of grants under the Company’s employee stock-
based compensation plans.
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NoTE 9
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a voluntary deferred compensation plan
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (the
“401(k) Plan”) for all employees who satisfy the age and ser-
vice requirements under the 401 (k) Plan. Each participant may
elect to contribute up to 10% of annual compensation, up to
the maximum permitted under federal law, and the Company is
obligated to contribute annually an amount equal to 100% of
the participant’s contribution up to 6% of that participant’s
annual compensation. Employees contributed to the 401(k)
Plan $5,486,000, $5,601,000 and $5,384,000 in 1999, 1998
and 1997, respectively. In accordance with the provisions of
the 401(k) Plan, the Company matched employee contribu-
tions in the amount of $4,510,000, $4,673,000 and
$4,495,000 during 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
Additionally, the Company can make discretionary contribu-
tions based on the profitability of the Company. For the year
ended December 31, 1999, the Company recorded compensa-
tion expense for discretionary contributions of $3,605,000. No
discretionary contributions were made for the years ended
December 31, 1998 and 1997.

The Company also has an unfunded, nonqualified
deferred compensation plan. The plan allows officers, certain
other employees and directors of the Company to defer all or
part of their compensation, to be paid to the participants or
their designated beneficiaries upon retirement, death or sepa-
ration from the Company. For the years ended December 31,
1999, 1998 and 1997, the total participant deferrals, which are
reflected in long-term liabilities, were $997,000, $908,000 and
$1,166,000, respectively. Included in other income during
1999 were net proceeds from an insurance policy related to
the deferred compensation plan of $3,622,000.

NoTE 10
INCOME TAXES

The Company’s income (loss) before income tax provision
(benefit) was subject to taxes in the following jurisdictions for
the following periods:

(in thousands) Year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
Domestic $75,799 ($34,555) | $212,453
Foreign 9,698 (4,344) 1,312
$85,497 ($38,899) | $213,765




The provision (benefit) for income taxes is as follows:

(in thousands) Year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997

Current tax provision (benefit):

United States $14,779 $21,345 $66,462

State 2,774 2,296 12,419

Foreign 3,044 250 1,150
Deferred tax expense (benefit):

United States 8,956 (31,173) 1,042

State 1,162 (4,847) 50

Foreign (540) (206) 62)
Income tax provision (benefit) | $30,175 ($12,335) $81,061

During 1999, 1998 and 1997, the Company recognized
certain tax benefits related to stock option plans in the amount
of $2,377,000, $3,068,000 and $29,786,000 respectively.
Such benefits were recorded as a reduction of income taxes
payable and an increase in additional paid-in capital.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax
assets and liabilities as of December 31, 1999 and 1998 are as
follows:

(in thousands) December 31,

1999 1998

Deferred tax assets:
Reserves and allowances $28,052 $36,229
Depreciation and amortization 16,601 7,963
Deferred compensation 4,678 3,100
Effect of inventory overhead adjustment 1,977 4,062
Compensatory stock options and rights 2,573 2,327
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards 798 1,074
Other 2,773 3,979
Restructuring charges

Long-lived asset impairment 1,740 1,755

Rental/lease arrangements 557 5,472

Estimated losses on assets held

for disposal 4,335

Capital loss carryforward 829 685

Other 52
Tax credit carryforwards 2,827
Total deferred tax assets 63,405 71,033
Valuation allowance for deferred

tax assets (4,190) (1,759)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation

allowance 59,215 69,274
Deferred tax liabilities:
State taxes, net of federal income

tax benefit (2,128) (2,608)

Net deferred tax assets $57,087 $66,666

At December 31, 1999, the Company had tax credit carry-
forwards primarily relating to state investment tax credits
which have expiration dates beginning with December 31, 2006.

A valuation allowance has been established due to the
uncertainty of realizing certain tax credits, carryforwards, and
a portion of other deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance
was increased by $2,431,000 during 1999, of which
$2,073,000 was attributable to state research and investment
tax credits. Based on management’s assessment, it is more
likely than not that all the net deferred tax assets will be real-
ized through future earnings or implementation of tax plan-
ning strategies.

A reconciliation of income taxes computed by applying
the statutory U.S. income tax rate to the Company’s income
(loss) before income taxes to the income tax provision (bene-
fit) is as follows:

(in thousands) Year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997

Amounts computed at

statutory U.S. tax rate $29,924 :($13,615) | $74,816
State income taxes, net of

U.S. tax benefit 3,046 (1,501) 8,105
State tax credits, net of

U.S. tax benefit (2,075)
Nondeductible foreign losses (476) 1,226
Expenses with no tax benefit 814 1,064
Nondeductible capital losses 130 588
Foreign sales corporation

tax benefits (1,471) (236) (2,519)
Nontaxable insurance proceeds (1,408)
Change in tax valuation allowance 2,431
Other (740) 139 659
Income tax provision (benefit) $30,175 :($12,335) | $81,061

U.S. tax return examinations have been completed for the
years through 1994. Management believes adequate provi-
sions for income tax have been recorded for all years.

NOTE 11
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company and its subsidiaries, incident to their business
activities, are parties to a number of legal proceedings, law-
suits and other claims. Such matters are subject to many
uncertainties and outcomes are not predictable with assur-
ance. Consequently, management is unable to ascertain the
ultimate aggregate amount of monetary liability, amounts
which may be covered by insurance, or the financial impact
with respect to these matters as of December 31, 1999.
However, management believes that the final resolution of
these matters, individually and in the aggregate, will not have
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a material adverse effect upon the Company’s annual consoli-
dated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company leases certain warehouse, distribution and
office facilities, as well as office and manufacturing equipment
under operating leases. Lease terms range from one to 10
years with options to renew at varying terms. Callaway Golf
Ball Company has guaranteed the residual value of equipment
leased pursuant to an operating lease which is subject to
renewal. The residual value guarantee, which approximates
estimated fair market value of the equipment at each option
period, is reduced over time. Commitments for minimum lease
payments under non-cancelable operating leases having ini-
tial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year as
of December 31, 1999 are as follows:

(in thousands)

2000 $11,128
2001 9,755
2002 6,612
2003 1,972
2004 1,904
Thereafter 7,926

$39,297

Future minimum lease payments have not been reduced
by future minimum sublease rentals of $2,207,000 under an
operating lease. At December 31, 1999, the Company is con-
tingently liable for $6,563,000 through February 2003 under
an operating lease that was assigned to a third party (Note
12). Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 1999,
1998 and 1997 was $2,315,000, $17,654,000 and $1,760,000,
respectively. Rent expense for 1999 does not include a credit
of $6,076,000 related to the reversal of a restructuring reserve
for excess lease costs (Note 12). Rent expense for 1998
includes $13,466,000 in excess lease costs related to the
Company’s restructuring activities (Note 12). The Company
had no capital leases at December 31, 1999.

NoTE 12
RESTRUCTURING

During the fourth quarter of 1998, the Company recorded a
restructuring charge of $54,235,000 resulting from a number
of cost reduction actions and operational improvements.
These actions included: the consolidation of the operations of
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Odyssey, into the
operations of the Company while maintaining the distinct and
separate Odyssey® brand; the discontinuation, transfer or sus-
pension of certain initiatives not directly associated with the
Company’s core business, such as the Company’s involvement
with interactive golf sites, golf book publishing, new player
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development and a golf venue in Las Vegas; and the re-sizing
of the Company’s core business to reflect current and expect-
ed business conditions. These initiatives were completed dur-
ing 1999, with the exception of cash outlays related to the
assignment of a lease obligation for a facility in New York City
that will continue through July 2000. The restructuring charges
(shown below in tabular format) primarily related to: 1) the
elimination of job responsibilities, resulting in costs incurred
for employee severance; 2) the decision to exit certain non-
core business activities, resulting in losses on disposition of
the Company’s 80% interest in CGMV (Note 14), a loss on the
sale of the business of All-American (Note 14), as well as
excess lease costs; and 3) consolidation of the Company’s con-
tinuing operations resulting in impairment of assets, losses on
disposition of assets and excess lease costs.

Employee reductions occurred in almost all areas of the
Company, including manufacturing, marketing, sales, and
administrative areas. At December 31, 1998, the Company had
reduced its non-temporary work force by approximately 750
positions. Although substantially all reductions occurred prior
to December 31, 1998, a small number of reductions occurred
in the first quarter of 1999.

During the restructuring, the Company consolidated its
operations and sold certain of its buildings, which housed a
portion of its manufacturing and research and development
activities. Other write-downs were recorded during 1998 for
idle assets, assets whose manner of use had changed signifi-
cantly and equipment replaced as a result of capital improve-
ments. The impaired assets included buildings, building
improvements, and machinery and equipment used in certain
of the Company’s manufacturing and research and develop-
ment activities.

The projected future cash flows from these assets were
less than the carrying values of the assets. The carrying values
of the assets held for sale and the assets to be held and used
were reduced to their estimated fair values based on indepen-
dent appraisals of selling values and values of similar assets
sold, less costs to sell. In 1998, the Company recorded losses
from impairment of assets of $12,634,000, which were record-
ed as restructuring costs. The Company completed the dispo-
sitions in 1999. At December 31, 1998, subsequent to the
write-down for impairments, the carrying amount of the assets
held for disposal and assets to be held and used was
$13,678,000 and $4,582,000, respectively. The Company con-
tinued to depreciate the assets that were held and used but
did not further depreciate the assets held for disposition. The
effect on depreciation for the year ended December 31, 1999
did not materially impact the Company’s results of operations
and management does not expect this effect to materially
impact future results of operations.



Details of the one-time charge are as follows (in thousands):

Reserve Reserve
Cash/ One-Time Balance Balance
Non-Cash Charge Activity at12/31/98 Activity® at 12/31/99
Elimination of Job Responsibilities $11,664 $8,473 $3,191 $3,191
Severance packages Cash 11,603 8,412 3,191 3,191
Other Non-cash 61 61
Exiting Certain Non-Core Business Activities $28,788 $12,015 $16,773 $15,394 $1,379
Loss on disposition of subsidiaries Non-cash 13,072 10,341 2,731 2,731@
Excess lease costs Cash 12,660 146 12,514 11,135 1,379
Contract cancellation fees Cash 2,700 1,504 1,196 1,196
Other Cash 356 24 332 332
Consolidation of Operations $13,783 $2,846 $10,937 $10,937
Loss on impairment/disposition of assets Non-cash 12,364 2,730 9,634 9,6340
Excess lease costs Cash 806 4 802 802@
Other Cash 613 112 501 501

(1) Includes reversal of reserve totaling $8,609,000, as actual amounts differed from estimates. Significant reversals are noted below in (2) through (4)
(2) Includes reversal of $6,076,000 of reserve due to the assignment of lease obligation at terms significantly more favorable than estimated at the

establishment of the reserve.

(3) Includes reversal of $1,470,000 of reserve related to disposition of two buildings at higher sales prices than estimated.
(4) Includes reversal of $491,000 of reserve due to the sublease of a facility at terms more favorable than estimated at the establishment of the reserve.

During 1999, the Company incurred charges of $1,295,000 on the disposition of building improvements eliminated during the

consolidation of manufacturing operations, as well as other charges of $671,000. These charges did not meet the criteria for accru-
al in 1998. Additionally, the Company incurred charges of $749,000 related to asset dispositions and other restructuring activities
for which reserves were not established in 1998. Future cash outlays are anticipated to be completed by July 2000.

NoTE 13
LITIGATION SETTLEMENT

NoTE 14
AQUISITIONS AND REORGANIZATIONS

In 1997, the Company settled a lawsuit brought against it and
certain officers of the Company by a former officer of the
Company with the payment of $12,000,000.

The Company filed suit against certain of its insurers and
an insurance agent seeking coverage for the costs of defend-
ing and settling the above lawsuit (the “coverage litigation”).
The insurers and the insurance agent settled with the
Company in 1998 for an amount that was not material. This
settlement was recorded in general and administrative
expenses as a reduction of legal fees.

During 1999, the Company acquired distribution rights and
substantially all of the assets from its distributor in Ireland for
$810,000. Also in 1999, the Company merged its subsidiary,
Callaway Golf Europe, S.A., with another of its subsidiaries,
Callaway Golf Europe, Ltd. and now operates in France through
a satellite office. During 1998, the Company acquired distribu-
tion rights and substantially all of the assets from its distribu-
tors in Korea, Canada, France, Belgium, Norway and Denmark,
as well as the remaining 20% interest in Callaway Golf Trading
GmbH (Note 16), the results of which are consolidated in the
results of Callaway Golf (Germany) GmbH. The aggregate pur-
chase price for these transactions was $27,229,000, excluding
the assumption and subsequent retirement of short-term debt
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obligations of $10,373,000. The excess of the purchase price
over net assets acquired of $20,935,000 was allocated to
goodwill and is being amortized over estimated useful lives of
three to 10 years. These acquisitions, along with the acquisi-
tion of the remaining 80% interest in All-American (discussed
below) are not considered significant business combinations.
Accordingly, pro forma financial information is not presented.

In May 1998, the Company acquired for $4,526,000 the
remaining 80% interest in All-American, which operates a
nine-hole golf course, performance center, training facility and
driving range located in Las Vegas, Nevada. On December 30,
1998, as part of its business plan to discontinue certain non-
core business activities, the Company sold the business of
All-American in exchange for barter trade credits, which were
recorded at the fair market value of the asset exchanged. The
Company recorded a loss on the disposition of this business of
$10,341,000 in December 1998 (Note 12).

On August 8, 1997, the Company consummated its acqui-
sition of substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of
Odyssey Sports, Inc., by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Odyssey,
subject to certain adjustments as of the time of closing.
Odyssey’s results of operations have been included in the
Company’s consolidated results of operations since August 8,
1997. Odyssey manufactured and marketed the Odyssey® line
of putters and wedges with Stronomic® and Lyconite® face
inserts. During 1998, as part of its restructuring plan, the oper-
ations of Odyssey were consolidated into that of the Company,
while maintaining the distinct and separate Odyssey® brand.
In 1999, Odyssey was dissolved as a corporate entity and as a
subsidiary.

The cost to acquire substantially all of the assets and cer-
tain liabilities of Odyssey Sports, Inc., including professional
fees directly related to the acquisition, was approximately
$129,256,000 and has been accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting. Amounts allocated to trade name,
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trademark, trade dress and goodwill are being amortized on
the straight-line basis over 40 years. The amounts allocated to
the process patent and covenant not to compete are being
amortized on the straight-line basis over 16 and three years,
respectively.

The following unaudited pro forma net sales, net income
and earnings per share data for the year ended December 31,
1997 are based on the respective historical financial state-
ments of the Company and Odyssey Sports, Inc. The pro forma
data presented for the year ended December 31, 1997 com-
bines the results of operations of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 1997 with the results of operations of
Odyssey Sports, Inc. for the ten months ended August 7, 1997
and the results of Odyssey for the two months ended
September 30, 1997 and assumes that the acquisition of sub-
stantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Odyssey
Sports, Inc. occurred on January 1, 1997.

The pro forma financial data presented are not necessar-
ily indicative of the Company’s results of operations that might
have occurred had the transaction been completed at the
beginning of the period specified, and do not purport to repre-
sent what the Company’s consolidated results of operations
might be for any future period.

(in thousands, except per share data) Year Ended
December 31,
1997

(unaudited)

Net sales $884,840

Net income $134,512
Earnings per common share:

Basic $1.97

Diluted $1.88




NoTE 15
SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s operating segments are organized on the basis of products and include golf clubs and golf balls. The Golf Clubs seg-
ment consists of Callaway Golf® titanium and stainless steel metal woods and irons, Callaway Golf® and Odyssey® putters and
wedges, and sales of related accessories. The Golf Balls segment consists of golf balls that are designed and manufactured, and will
be marketed and distributed by the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Callaway Golf Ball Company. All Other segments, includ-
ing interactive golf sites, golf book publishing, new player development and a driving range venture, are aggregated as they do not
meet requirements for separate disclosure set forth in SFAS No. 131. In accordance with its restructuring plan, the Company is no
longer pursuing these initiatives (Note 12). There are no significant intersegment transactions. The table below contains informa-
tion utilized by management to evaluate its operating segments.

(in thousands)

1999 Golf Clubs Golf Balls All Other Consolidated
Net sales $714,471 $714,471
Income (loss) before tax 123,922 ($38,425) 85,497
Interest income 5,463 5,463
Interest expense 2,222) (1,372) (3,594)
Depreciation and amortization 36,151 3,726 39,877
Additions to long-lived assets 10,210 46,9120 57,122
1998 Golf Clubs Golf Balls All Other Consolidated
Net sales $697,621 $697,621
Income (loss) before tax 9,182 ($22,426) ($25,655) (38,899)
Interest income 1,564 7 1,571
Interest expense 2,252) 419) 2,671)
Depreciation and amortization 34,121 1,072 692 35,885
Additions to long-lived assets 39,854 47,7210 1,408 88,983
1997 Golf Clubs Golf Balls All Other Consolidated
Net sales $842,927 $842,927
Income (loss) before tax 222,771 ($9,013) $ 7 213,765
Interest income 4,703 4,703
Interest expense (10) (10)
Depreciation and amortization 19,219 84 105 19,408
Additions to long-lived assets 166,461 10,263 823 177,547

(1) Includes an aggregate of $50,000,000 converted to an operating lease in 1999 (Note 4).

The Company markets its products domestically and internationally, with its principal international markets being Asia and
Europe. The table below contains information about the geographical areas in which the Company operates. Revenues are attrib-
uted to the location to which the product was shipped. Long-lived assets are based on location of domicile.

The Company, through a distribution agreement, had appointed Sumitomo as the sole distributor of Callaway Golf® clubs in
Japan. The distribution agreement, which began in February 1993 and ended on December 31, 1999, required Sumitomo to purchase
specified minimum quantities. In 1999, 1998, and 1997, sales to Sumitomo accounted for 7%, 8% and 10%, respectively, of the
Company’s net sales. In the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company successfully completed negotiations with Sumitomo to provide a
smooth transition of its business. As a result of this transition agreement, the Company recorded a net charge of $8.6 million in the
fourth quarter of 1999 for buying certain current inventory, payments for non-current inventory and other transition expenses,
including foreign currency transaction losses. Odyssey® brand products are sold through the Company’s wholly-owned Japanese
subsidiary, Callaway Golf K.K., and beginning January 1, 2000, Callaway Golf® brand products also will be sold through this
subsidiary.
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(In thousands)

1999 Sales Long-Lived Assets
United States $414,136 $241,241
Europe 115,673 14,027
Japan 55,928 2,634
Rest of Asia 73,121 974
Other foreign countries 55,613 3,481

Total $714,471 $262,357
1998 Sales Long-Lived Assets
United States $437,627 $277,611
Europe 116,354 17,789
Japan 61,460 857
Rest of Asia 34,189 1,194
Other foreign countries 47,991 3,122

Total $697,621 $300,573
1997 Sales Long-Lived Assets
United States $547,256 $250,548
Europe 108,659 4,035
Japan 84,634 61
Rest of Asia 54,029
Other foreign countries 48,349

Total $842,927 $254,644

NoTE 16
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

During 1998, the Company entered into an agreement with
Callaway Editions, Inc. to form CGMV, a limited liability com-
pany that was owned 80% by the Company and 20% by
Callaway Editions, Inc. (“Callaway Editions”). Callaway
Editions is a publishing and media company which is owned

CALLAWAY GoLF ComMPANY

9% by Ely Callaway, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, and 81% by his son, Nicholas Callaway. CGMV
was formed to produce print and other media products that
relate to the game of golf. Pursuant to the agreement, the
Company agreed to loan CGMV up to $20,000,000 for working
capital, subject to CGMV’s achievement of certain milestones
to the satisfaction of the Company in its sole discretion. Also
pursuant to the agreement, CGMV was obligated to pay an
annual management fee of $450,000 to Callaway Editions. In
conjunction with the Company’s restructuring plan, the
Company committed to sell or assign its interest in CGMV to
Callaway Editions. Accordingly, the Company recorded a
charge in operations to December 1998 based on the
December 31, 1998 book value of CGMV (Note 12).

During 1999, the Company forgave the existing loan bal-
ance from CGMV of approximately $2,142,000, sold its interest
to Callaway Editions for a nominal amount and paid
$1,000,000 as consideration for release from its obligation to
loan CGMV up to $20,000,000. These transactions did not
result in a charge in 1999, as they were adequately accrued in
the 1998 restructuring reserve (Note 12).

In December 1998, the Company purchased the remain-
ing 20% interest in Callaway Golf Trading GmbH, the
Company’s former German distributor, for $6,766,000. The
purchase price was in the form of a note payable bearing inter-
est at 7%, due in June 1999 to the seller, who is an officer of a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Company. The note payable was
included in accounts payable and accrued expenses at
December 31, 1998 and was paid in February 1999.



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

PRICEWVATERHOUSE(COPERS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Callaway Golf Company:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, of cash flows
and of shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Callaway Golf Company and its sub-
sidiaries at December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 1999 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
the opinion expressed above.

(Tl oo <

San Diego, California
January 26, 2000
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SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands, except per share data) Fiscal Year 1999 Quarters
1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total

Net sales $185,744 $229,708 $183,335 $115,684 $714,471
Gross profit $ 83,520 $108,664 $ 89,896 $ 55,986 $ 338,066
Net income $ 12,823 $ 24,771 $ 17,572 $ 156 $ 55,322
Earnings per common share*

Basic $0.18 $0.35 $0.25 $0.00 $0.79

Diluted $0.18 $0.35 $0.25 $0.00 $0.78

Fiscal Year 1998 Quarters

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
Net sales $176,908 $ 233,251 $172,944 $ 114,518 $ 697,621
Gross profit $ 83,705 $ 108,790 $ 83,085 $ 20,434 $296,014
Net income (loss) $ 11,160 $ 21,137 $ 5,836 $ 64,697) ($ 26,564)
Earnings (loss) per common share*
Basic $0.16 $0.30 $0.08 ($0.93) ($0.38)
Diluted $0.16 $0.30 $0.08 ($0.93) ($0.38)

* Earnings per share is computed individually for each of the quarters presented; therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not necessarily
equal the total for the year.

MARKET FOR COMMON SHARES AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The Company’s Common Shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). The Company’s symbol for its Common Shares
is “ELY.”
As of March 6, 2000, the approximate number of holders of record of the Company’s Common Stock was 9,415.

STOCK PRICE INFORMATION

Year ended December 31,

1999 1998

Period: High Low Dividend High Low Dividend
First Quarter {0 %1144 1 $1000 | $0.07 $33.25 | $2650 | $0.07
Second Quarter . %1669 | $1219 | $0.07 $29.44 . $17.94 . $0.07
Third Quarter P %1463 0 %931 | $0.07 $2050 | $9.56 . $0.07
Fourth Quarter . %1800 - $11.69 - $0.07 $13.56 $9.81 $0.07
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